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‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:


MR. VEGH:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is George Vegh.  I'm Board Counsel in this proceeding.  I want to welcome you all to the Technical Conference.  I'm going to be sort of the MC for today.


I was going to start by setting out some context; that is, why we're here, what the process is and what we're trying to accomplish today, and to lay out the plan for the day and the next steps in this proceeding.  So before I do all of that, why don't we do a bit of a roll call to get on the record who is here today and who they are representing.  Maybe we could start with the applicant.


APPEARANCES:


MR. LYLE:  Certainly.  I'll go through all of the names of the panel who are here today.  My name is Michael Lyle.  I'm general counsel and corporate secretary of the OPA.  Prior to coming to the OPA, I was with the Ontario Energy Board for several years.  To my immediate left is Joyce Poon.


MS. POON:  I'm Joyce Poon.  I'm with the OPA as the manager of business planning and financial analysis.


MR. RAFFAELLE:  I'm Guy Raffaelle, also with the OPA, director of contract management, within the generation development group.


MR. ALMASSI:  I'm Massoud Almassi, director of commercial and institutional programs at OPA at conservation bureau.


MR. HAY:  My name is Brian Hay.  I'm director of corporate communications for the OPA.


MR. GIBBONS:  I'm Bob Gibbons.  I'm director of mid-term integrated planning, OPA.


MR. CASS:  I'm Fred Cass, counsel for the OPA.  


MS. DEJULIO:  I'm Gia Dejulio, and I'm representing the communications and regulatory department at the OPA.


MS. SIMON:  I'm Judith Simon, and I'm a consultant to conservation bureau.


MR. HIGGIN:  Roger Higgin, ECS Consultants, representing VECC, the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition today.


MR. DINGWALL:  I'm Brian Dingwall, counsel representing Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Dave Matthews, Direct Energy Marketing Limited.


MS. KWIK:  I'm Judy Kwik.  I'm with Elenchus Research Associates, and I'm here for the Power Workers' Union.


MR. SMITH:  I'm Russell Smith.  I'm representing the Hydro One Networks, with the regulatory affairs department.  


MR. KERR:  I'm Paul Kerr with Coral Energy.  


MS. LANDYMORE:  I'm Heather Landymore, Macleod Dixon, here on behalf of APPrO and TransAlta.  


MS. LAINIS:  I'm Helen Lainis, representing the Independent --


MR. VEGH:  Sorry, could you speak louder.  The reporter is not hearing you.  


MS. LAINIS:  Helen Lainis, representing the Independent Electricity System Operator.  


MR. OSOUD:  I'm Steve Osoud [phon].  I'm with Ontario Power Generation.


MS. HEINZ:  I'm Miriam Heinz, and I'm with communications and public affairs at the OEB.  I'm just an observer.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


MR. VEGH:  Okay, thank you.  


Just by way of context and background, the OPA filed its application on October 31st.  I understand that at the time of filing it served parties with its filing, I think to probably most parties in the room today.  The Board issued a notice of application on November 14th, and in that notice of application it set out some of the initial stages in this proceeding.


The stages identified in the notice of application are really a couple of them.  Well, first, we're having today's Technical Conference, and I will come back to what it is we're trying to accomplish in the Technical Conference today.


Second, it indicated that the Board Staff will be circulating a draft issues list on December 16th, and, third, it identified that there will be an Issues Day where the Board will assemble, if necessary, to finalize an issues list on December 20th.


So the process in this case that we're using is a little different and a little more compact and hopefully focussed than we've used in other cases.


What we're trying to do is aim at getting at what are the real substantive issues in this application that have to be determined by the Board, and, frankly, we're not trying to build in a lot of process for its own sake.  We're trying to be focussed around our processes so that they can help us efficiently and effectively get at the real substantive issues that the Board has to determine.  


So, as I said, we haven't built in a lot of additional process steps.  If these steps do become necessary, the Board may consider them, but, as I've said, they haven't been built into the schedule.


So what has been built into the schedule is today's Technical Conference and the settlement of an issues list, and in the Technical Conference today, what we'll have the opportunity to do is for Staff and for the parties who are here to get a better clarification of the OPA's application.


The way that we will do that is the OPA will provide a summary or a presentation on its evidence, and then there will be the opportunity for all parties here to ask questions on clarification.  The order for asking questions will be that Staff will go first, and why don't we just leave it that parties will ask questions in the order of appearances, unless someone has a real concern about that and wants to step down.  But that's a logical way to proceed.


The approach that we want to take today, the purpose of the day, is to get a better information and clarification of the OPA's presentation and evidence.  So the approach we'll take is that people will ask questions.  If the OPA does not ‑‑ is not in a position to give an immediate answer to the question, it can undertake to provide an answer in writing.  And the time frame to do that, to provide that written response, is by December 14th.


As you will all have noticed by now, we have a reporter today.  The session is being transcribed, and question and answers will be transcribed and taken as part of the record in this proceeding.


If we get to the state where there is a dispute between the OPA and a party, we're obviously not in a position to resolve them today, so I think the simplest thing is if someone puts a question and the OPA objects to answering the question, then the OPA can put its objection on the record, the party will state on the record why it is it thinks that the question is relevant and would be -- why the answer would be helpful for this proceeding, and then we'll have that on the record, and then we can see what the next steps are, if it's necessary to have the Board resolve that issue and direct the OPA to answer that question or not.


We're not going to get very far today, I think, arguing the intervenors' case or Board Staff case or the OPA's case.  We will try to avoid doing that and just put positions on the record so that they can be resolved by people that have the authority to resolve them.


As I've said, our process is a little different here, and our present intention is to use the evidence, the pre-filed evidence, the answers today and the subsequent written answers that come in from the OPA, assuming that there is a request for additional written answers, as part of the ‑‑ as the record for this proceeding.


We don't currently ‑‑ the Board does not currently plan on having an additional written interrogatory process or an additional form of discovery.


If the parties feel, after today, that there is a real need to have additional written interrogatories or some form of additional discovery, there will be opportunities to address that, but I just want to let people know now that it is not the ‑‑ that the intention is to try to clarify the record through this process and not to have an additional written interrogatory process.  But the Board has an open mind on that and will listen to people if they have a case to make on why it is certain answers to certain written interrogatories are necessary.


We would also like parties to address a couple of things today.  One is, as I've said, our next step, after today, will be to issue a draft issues list, and in order to collect information on what the parties think our real issues that really do have to be addressed in this case, we would invite parties when they're asking the questions to take advantage of the fact that they will be on the record and to let us know that there are certain issues that they believe ought to be addressed in the issues list.


The approach we would like to take is to be as concrete as you can as to what those issues are.  We don't think there is a lot of value in just saying, Well, you know, the table of contents from this application should be the issues list.  


The real focus here will be to identify what are the substantive issues that should be addressed.  You will have an opportunity to respond to the Board Staff's draft issues list later, so it is not like this is your last chance but you can treat this, really, as a first chance to say what you think the issues ought to be.  


Also, the Board has not yet made a determination as to whether this will be an oral proceeding or a written proceeding.  The parties were asked to give their position on that in filing their interventions.  I think the parties have done that.  Those will be considered by the Board and a determination will be made on that front.  


So you don't need to -- that's an issue that is still out there to be resolved, it is pending.  You don't need to reargue your position on that today.  Your positions have been put forward in the notice of intervention, but I just wanted to let you know that is still a live issue. 


Finally, if other parties do plan on filing evidence, and if you know that today, it will be helpful if you say that as well.  So we have an appreciation of what people see their next steps being in this proceeding.  This won't be your last chance to indicate that you want to file evidence, but it would be helpful, if you've turned your mind to that already, to let us know so that we can plan out the necessary next stages in this proceeding.  


So with all of that by way of background, I understand that the OPA's assembled its panel.  Mike Lyle has introduced the panel.  The way that we're going to proceed today is to follow the order set out in the letter of December 2nd, and there will be two major parts of the Technical Conference.  


First, the OPA will present its evidence by reference to an overview of the five operating divisions, and hopefully provide -- walk through what is in their evidence in respect of all of those divisions.  That will be the first part of the presentation.  Then Staff will ask questions around that part and, as I've said, the parties will be invited to do that as well, in order of appearance.  


Then, we'll have a second part of the Technical Conference, and that's when the OPA will provide a presentation on the way that they propose to use the retailer settlement revenues to pay for their fees in this application.  


So with that, unless there is something I've missed, I was going to hand it over to the OPA to start with their presentation.  


MR. LYLE:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.  


MR. DINGWALL:  Before we get there, I do have one question with respect to process. 


MR. VEGH:  Yes.  


MR. DINGWALL:  That's with respect to timing and depth.  I don't know whether or not the information session today is going to generate enough information to satisfy concerns.  I take it that it would be on the 20th when there is an Issues Day that that would be addressed.  


Has the Board thought of timing of when an actual hearing might take place, and whether the Board would consider an ADR as a prelude to that?  


MR. VEGH:  I don't think the Board has ruled out an ADR.  We haven't set a hearing date yet.  


Just to be clear, the session on the 20th is now settled to address the issues list.  Now, if parties have motions that they want to bring, including a motion to ask specific written interrogatories on the grounds there hasn't been sufficient discovery and that more information is required, or more discovery is required to meet the requirements of clarifying evidence or simplifying issues or getting a full and satisfactory understanding of the matters in the case or to expedite the proceeding, if someone wants to make that case, it may be that the approach -- it may be that the Board will hear that on the 20th.  


I suggest that what we do is finish with today and then parties can consider whether it will be necessary to bring that type of motion for further discovery really, whether it is another Technical Conference or written interrogatories and then we can discuss the process for bringing that motion.  But I am afraid I'm not going to be able to commit today that the Board will hear that on the 20th at the same time as it hears the issues, because I don't know peoples schedules around that.  


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  


MR. VEGH:  Mike.  


MR. LYLE:  Was there another question?  


PRESENTATION BY MR. LYLE – PART 1:

MR. LYLE:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.  Just one point of clarification to one of Mr. Dingwall's points.  The OPA, in its letter which accompanied its application, did request a settlement conference in this proceeding.  


So, as Mr. Vegh set out, we're going to have two presentations today.  The first presentation addresses a summary of the OPA's strategic objectives.  The OPA has met the condition precedence in the statute to filing this application.  It has submitted its business plan to the Minister of Energy in early October, and it received approval of that business plan from the Minister of Energy by a letter dated October 20th.  


Then, as Mr. Vegh indicated, the OPA submitted its application to the OEB on October 31st, within sixty days of the end of the fiscal year, as required by the statute.  


This slide provides an overview of the components which make up the OPA's operating budget for 2006.  You will see that the total budget is approximately $30.6 million.  We're also seeking approval of capital expenditures of $205,000 in 2006.  You will see that the top line indicates that employee costs are in the range of $14 million for 2006, and professional consulting fees on the next line are in the range of $7.8 million.  


In order to provide some context for this day today, we thought it would be useful to explain a little bit about what costs are not within the scope of this proceeding.  The OPA, under the statute, is entitled to collect fees and charges.  Payments made by the OPA under procurement contracts that the OPA enters into for supply capacity, demand management or demand reduction are recovered through charges and using the mechanism of the global adjustment.  


No OEB approval is required for the pass-through of payments under procurement contracts arising from a Minister's directive, or after the OEB has approved the integrated power system plan, which we'll talk about in a moment, and the procurement process that the OPA intends to use in entering into procurement contracts.  


There are five strategic objectives laid out in the business plan of the OPA for 2006.  This year, we have done a one-year business plan because of the fact that we are an organization which is still getting on its feet.  Next year we plan to come forward with a three-year business plan.  


The first strategic objective flows directly from the statute and our obligation to develop an integrated power system plan.  


The second strategic objective relates to the need to procure new generation.  


The third strategic objective relates to conservation and demand management, and it will be led by the conservation bureau.


The fourth strategic objective deals with our obligation to manage retail price-smoothing related to the RPP variance accounts, and also relates to the objective of leading market evolution.  


Finally, the fifth strategic objective relates to the role of corporate affairs group in providing overall services to the organization.  


This, then, is the organizational chart for the organization.  You will see that there are five groups:  The conservation bureau, led by Peter Love; generation development, vice-president is Paul Bradley; power system planning, headed by Amir Shalaby; corporate affairs led by Mary Ellen Richardson; and the group called electricity sector development, headed by Paul Shervill.  That group was previously called retail services.  Its name has recently changed.  


Moving, then, to the first strategic objective, I think many of you will be aware that the OPA is obligated to develop an integrated power system plan, and the regulations provide that that is to be a 20‑year plan which is to be updated every three years.  We are currently targeting filing that plan with the OEB by the end of August 2006.


In developing that plan, we will be guided by any directives that the Minister issues under the statute, including any directives related to the supply mix.  And as you likely know, the Minister of Energy had previously asked the OPA for advice on supply mix and that advice will be given to the Minister tomorrow.


The other initiatives that power system planning group is undertaking in 2006 include regional supply initiatives in certain key areas of the province.  This is somewhat similar in nature to the work that the OPA undertook in York region this year.  We would also be attempting to address the interplay between municipal and electricity planning and assist in the development of clearer processes that better take account of the need for planning of electricity infrastructure.


So this is the budget for the power system planning group by base and initiative.  You will see the base budget is about 2.5 million, and each individual initiative has dollars allocated to it, including integrated power system plan of approximately 1.5 million, for a total of about 4.3 million.  This is the budget broken down by major expense.  


Move then to the second strategic objective related to facilitating investment in electricity infrastructure.  And in this area, the OPA is acting to address a number of directives that the OPA has received from the Minister of Energy in 2005.


We are undertaking procurement processes to address needs in western GTA, and also to address a directive to acquire 1,000 megawatts of combined heat and power.  There is also a directive that was also issued on June 15th directing the OPA to enter into negotiations with a number of existing generating plants, with the objective of displacing coal‑fired generation.


One interesting aspect of that directive is it does provide for OEB review of any contracts that are entered into.  So unlike the other directives, there will be a need to take those contracts to the OEB.


Another directive which the OPA has recently received relates to the need for -- to address an urgent supply problem in the area of the Clairville transformer station.


 And, in addition, arising out of our report on York region supply, we will be moving to procure generation in northern York region.  There we will be acting without a directive, and so that contract would also require OEB approval.


The other aspect of the generation development group is actually managing the procurement contracts once they are signed.  To date, the contracts that we are managing are contracts that arose from the government's own procurement processes or negotiations and which we were directed to either sign or assume responsibility for.


So in that case, there are four contracts, CES contracts, for new gas‑fired generation; one CES contract for demand response, which is with Loblaws.  There is, of course, the Bruce refurbishment contract, and 19 contracts have arisen from the government's RES 1 and RES 2 procurement processes.


Here we see the budget for the generation development group broken down by base and initiative, with base costs coming out at approximately $1.8 million and the total budget of about $5.2 million.  This is the generation development group's budget by major expense category.


I will move then to the third strategic objective related to conservation and demand management.


The conservation bureau has also received a number of directives which you will be acting to implement in 2006.  In mid June, the OPA received a directive to procure 250 megawatts of demand management and demand response programs.  In October 6th, the OPA received a directive from the Minister related to engaging in programs focussed on low‑income and social housing, and on October 20th a directive was received from the Minister related to programs for appliance change-out and efficient lighting.


The conservation bureau will also be pursuing a conservation awareness initiative, will be funding conservation programs out of a conservation fund and will also be involved in undertaking research and tracking conservation initiatives.


You will see once again with this slide the base and initiative budget for the conservation bureau was set out with base costs of about $1.8 million.  You will see the conservation fund is about $1.5 million, with conservation awareness spending coming in at about $1.5 million, as well.


This is the conservation bureau's budget broken down by major expense category.


Move then to the strategic objective, which will be pursued by the electricity sector development group.  There is an obligation in the statute for the OPA to hold the RPP variance account and assist the OEB in facilitating price stability for RPP customers.


There is also an initiative under way related to the long‑term development of the electricity marketplace.  OPA believes in the benefits of competitive markets and OPA is working to evolve Ontario's electricity system to a properly‑functioning competitive market.


This group is also working on developing and implementing the standard offer program.  As most of you will be aware, there was a letter received from the Minister of Energy that was sent both to the OEB and the OPA requesting those organizations to work on coordinating the development of a standard offer program for small generators, and a report on that is due back both from the OPA and the OEB by the end of the year.


Finally, this group will administer the technology development fund, which is designed to promote technological breakthroughs in areas of supply and conservation technology.


This is the breakdown of the electricity sector developments group by base and initiative.  Base costs are about $1.3 million.  You will see that the technology fund amounts to $1 million. 


This then is the breakdown, by major expense category. 
Moving, then, to the corporate affairs group.  The corporate affairs group provides a wide range of services to the organization, including stakeholder communications, public relations, human resources services, information technology support, financial systems and business planning, and legal and regulatory services.  


You will see on this slide the breakdown of corporate affairs budget by base and initiative, with the base budget being about $10.5 million and the total budget being about $12 million.  


Finally, this is the budget for the corporate affairs group, broken down by major expense category.  


So with that, we'll be happy to answer any questions.  


QUESTIONED BY MR. RICHMOND:

MR. RICHMOND:  Yes.  My name is David Richmond, I'm Board Staff.  I would like to start off by asking a couple of questions on the generation contracting that Mr. Lyle spoke about.  In reviewing the evidence, your plan is to set up a structured generation procurement process.  And I would like to ask that you provide a schedule, broken down into the significant project components of that and the milestones in the development of that structured process.  


MR. RAFFAELLE:  We have that on a slide.  If we 
could –-


MR. LYLE:  Here, why don't you do this.  


MR. RAFFAELLE:  That's it.  That's a Word document?  Word document, okay.  Going through the processes, the combined heat and power draft RFP to be issued December 2005, stakeholdering of that draft RFP next month, the final RFP to be issued in February, with consultation through March.  Then submitting proposals to the OPA, and these would be binding proposals, in May 2006, with selection of winners and signing contracts by the middle of next year.  


For GTA West, we have issued a request for qualifications.  That was last month, the end of last month.  Stakeholdering of the draft RFQ will be happening this month.  Qualifications will be submitted to the OPA in February, and at that time, depending on the kind of interest and qualifications that we see coming out of that process, we'll determine next steps.  So next steps, we'll figure that out in February of next year.  


Can I get you to slide down that page a bit?


MR. LYLE:  Sure.  


MR. RAFFAELLE:  Okay.  Goreway.  The implementation agreement was signed in October, and we expect to sign the contracts this month.  With early movers, we have confidentiality agreements in place; they were signed between September/November.  Term sheets this month, and we hope to have all of the contracts signed by January, December/January time frame.  That's it.  


MR. RICHMOND:  And those are the one-of situations.  I guess in terms of the structured process that would be driven out of the IPSP, obviously that wouldn't be in place until you delivered your plan. 


MR. RAFFAELLE:  No.  That wouldn't be.  


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  


Just as a point of housekeeping, I also might mention that we prepared questions and delivered them to the OPA and to the intervenors, and hopefully you got those questions. 


MR. LYLE:  Yes.  Thank you, we appreciate that consideration.  


MR. RICHMOND:  I have a second question regarding the generation contracting.  You spoke about -- Mr. Lyle spoke about the contracts that were already in place, and you have talked about the ones you are putting in place.  And you indicated in your evidence that you are setting up quite a formal contract management system to manage a myriad of these contracts.  Would you have a schedule prepared for the delivery of that contract management system?  


MR. RAFFAELLE:  You're speaking about the settlement and monitoring systems?


MR. RICHMOND:  Not so much the settlement and monitoring.  You indicated in your evidence that, because of the amount of contracts that you would have, that you had money allocated to put a formal contract management system in and you would either build that in-house or buy something off the shelf.  


MR. RAFFAELLE:  Okay.  It is mostly in the settlement end more than anything else. 


MR. RICHMOND:  Okay. 


MR. RAFFAELLE:  But we are examining options for both building in-house settlement systems and outsourcing the function.  Most of the scoping for the in-house option, and the outsource for that matter, is complete but we're currently still in the pricing stage.  We plan to make a recommendation for senior management and obtain approval early in 2006 on that.  


MR. RICHMOND:  So for it to be in place, it would be first quarter, second quarter?  


MR. RAFFAELLE:  It depends on which route we go.  If the preferred option is to build the settlement system in house, we expect to require about six months to build, test and implement.  We would use the Ontario Financing Authority's existing system and import those over to the OPA and adjust them to handle contracts that the OFA does not deal with at this time.  


If the preferred option is to outsource, it would be quicker, as little as a month or two after signing the contract.  And between now and when the systems are implemented, the OFA will continue to settle the RES contracts, and the only other outstanding contract is Bruce, which we can settle in-house right now on spreadsheets.  


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  


I have a number of questions in the area of the conservation bureau.   You have indicated in your evidence, and Mr. Lyle spoke of it, of the $1.55 million on pilots and supporting pilot programs.  This is a first question on that particular piece.  How is that amount determined?  How did you arrive at the fact that that was the optimum amount that should be allocated to this area?  


MR. ALMASSI:  Essentially, the conservation fund is a model and is based on the framework of a partnership fund.  It is a very similar fund at the Ministry of Energy.


We determined that perhaps, maybe that would create a continue continuity, given the similar objectives and mandates for the two funds.  Since we have, effectively, been operational in the conservation bureau over the last five months, that seemed a good start.  And we have, so far, found it to be sufficient for this year, in 2005.  


We will continue with the same amount in 2006 and will reassess that after.  


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  


Regarding this particular program, and I realize you obviously have to review the landscape, but do you have any particular projects that you are thinking of at this time for that?  Or have you not decided that yet?  


MR. ALMASSI:  We have a number of projects at this point that are operational, and we have a whole list of potential projects that have already been brought to our attention.  


If you will, I could go through some of the specifics, but we already have a long list.  As well, we also have a number of initiatives for particular sectors.  In the MUSH sector, the commercial sector, industrial, and we are in the process of developing potential for pilots in order to do the groundwork for programs that potentially we can introduce in 2006.  


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  Once you select these projects that are worthy for piloting and you get them up and running, what sort of systems do you have in place or methodologies do you have to ascertain their effectiveness and either then to continue with them or to put them by the wayside?


MR. ALMASSI:  The conservation fund, essentially, is designed for doing ground work for the upcoming programs, province‑wide programs.  We have two types of projects.  Some of them are market oriented to know more about the market, and other ones are specific pilots related to technologies.


Essentially the effectiveness would be paced on what we learn from these initiatives and what it would provide for us in order to have credible and sound programs in terms of program design.


We also have a framework for the criterion for the fund, and, if you wish, I could go through that.  It is part of someone else -- it has been described in our submission.  I can go through the details of it as to how we screen the projects and what set of criteria we apply to those before we approve them.  But essentially the results would be in terms of the information and lessons that we learn from them in order to develop programs


MR. RICHMOND:  I did note your screening, and you have provided quite a good amount of information on that.  I'm thinking more that when it is selected - and obviously you think it is already worthy, if you've picked it - do you have something formalized as a cost benefit, when it is selected, to ascertain if you think it's being effective or not?


MR. ALMASSI:  The effectiveness of the conservation fund is the extent to which the projects and the pilots would generate province-wide programs and would provide the basis for developing province-wide programs.


We have tracking systems for the progress of the specific projects, such as the pilots under the fund.  That would be another metric for the success of the fund.


But, essentially, in terms of costs and benefits, since the projects and the pilots are not necessarily designed to generate savings, although they may, but they are designed in order so we can learn from them and apply them in a wider scope across the province, if they're successful.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  You had mentioned in your evidence program guidelines and application guide where you spoke of some selection criteria, that you would be making that available.  It looked quite interesting.


When would that be available?


MR. ALMASSI:  We are in the process of submitting a framework to our board, and it will be approved for operation in 2006.  

Mike, any additional comments?


MR. LYLE:  Yes.  I can tell you that we are coming forward to our board meeting, which is meeting next Tuesday, December 13th, with some guidelines both with respect to the conservation fund and the technology fund.


Obviously, we don't know at this time whether our board is going to approve those, or not.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  I would like to stay in the conservation area, but move to the area that you had broken down where you ‑‑ your own area and the two others, where you allocate $750,000 into targeted areas, the three target areas, 250,000 apiece.


Looking at your pre-filed evidence, it wasn't obvious to me specifically what kind of programs that you would have in there.  Can you give us some examples that would be allocated to specific programs in those three spaces?


MR. ALMASSI:  I can start with commercial and institutional.  At the moment, we are initiating research in specific sectors, such as offices, retail.  We are active in having a closer look at sectors such as hospitals, universities, colleges.  We are anticipating to do further work on the industrial side, including some pilots.  Some of them may take the research aspects and some may be included in the conservation fund, but the amount of $750,000 essentially is designed for very sector-specific groundwork, whether it is technology or the market.


MR. RICHMOND:  You touched on something that I wondered about, because you mentioned for piloting.  So you have money allocated to sectors, but then, as you've indicated, if it becomes a pilot project, then that's another aspect of your program.


So how are you differentiating between those two aspects?


MR. ALMASSI:  Essentially pilot programs under the fund and the set of criteria that we have for that are those projects that will be implemented through associations, working directly with associations, with the specific purpose of a wider application, et cetera.


Under the market research, it may be very specific to sector or industry, and we may need to do those projects directly with some of the industrial participants.  In that sense, maybe there would be a distinction.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  Some of these programs are obviously in the same space that the LDCs are working with their CDM initiatives, so what plans have you made to coordinate with these entities so that you're getting the best payback?


MR. ALMASSI:  Can I answer the question by way of example?


MR. RICHMOND:  Sure.


MR. ALMASSI:  For example, we are given a directive from the Minister of Energy for low‑income and social housing, as Mike mentioned earlier.  The low‑income program is intended to be a province-wide program, but we know that at the same time a number of LDCs in their jurisdictions are already working, and some have introduced some programs for low‑income and social housing.  


The attempt that we have made is so far, since the directive -- we received the directive.  We are working very closely with Social Housing Services Corporation, we're working very closely with the LDCs, to ensure that the province‑wide program would be coordinated and will be in tune with all the other efforts under way.  Social housing is very -- is rather complete, because Social Housing Services has a direct line to all of the social housing corporations and what the LDCs are doing in those jurisdictions for low‑income.


We are working with LIEN and many other groups to ensure that duplication doesn't take place and to ensure that the program, province-wide program, is inclusive of the existing efforts.


That is not to say it is not a challenge.  It is going to be a challenge, but we are making -- so far we are making quite good progress.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  That is one that stands out rather separately, because, as you've indicated in the evidence, it's a Minister's directive.  But I am thinking of places where it's more general and you have LDCs that are working, appliance removal or lighting.  You also mentioned your own programs in that area.


So how do you coordinate those?  These are ones that are less specific.


MR. ALMASSI:  We are similarly, regarding the other two directives - one for energy-efficient lighting, the other one appliances - if you will, those directives are also interacting with the low‑income program.  So it is -- very few of the initiatives that we have are completely separate.  They interact with each other.


As I explained regarding low income, very similar effort, together with the low income is under way for lighting and appliances and, to the extent possible, we have tried to make sure that all initiatives for lighting and appliances, we're aware of them and we are also coordinating and working with the appropriate LDCs in that regard.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  Staying with that same area in LDC spending, when you are looking at your assessments for what you can do in the area and what benefits are there and what costs might arise, what assumptions have you made with respect to the LDC CDM programs?  


MR. ALMASSI:  I'm sorry, I'm not clear about the question. 


MR. RICHMOND:  Well, backing up a little.  When you were looking in the various areas, and obviously you have a bit of an oversight or overview, you're in that situation and you're looking at what sort of savings can be made in a number of areas or what sort of benefits, it seems to me that you must have made in your overall calculation some assumptions with the LDCs, because, after all, they're working in some of the same spaces.  


So what are those assumptions that you have made?  


MR. ALMASSI:  I'm terribly sorry.  I'm not 100 percent certain about the question.  Maybe I should rephrase and then you let me know if my understanding is right.  


You're referring to the effectiveness of our program as well as the LDC programs that we are coordinating with?  And what attempt has been made to –-

MR. RICHMOND:  That's part of it, yes, the effectiveness.  And then in determining that effectiveness, presumably you would have made certain assumptions about what they have done.  


MR. ALMASSI:  We have avoided making assumptions in that regard.  This is a work-in-progress.  We are in the process of designing our own programs, with the examples that I presented:  low-income, appliances and lighting.  And we are in close contact with the LDCs who are active in -- at least those LDCs that are active in the similar areas.  


We are not making any assumptions as to how the effectiveness is measured.  We are in the process of learning as to what assumptions they have made, and in the process we are designing our own program, the province-wide program, making sure they're consistent.  So I would say it is a work-in-progress.  


MR. RICHMOND:  Okay, thank you.  


Still staying on that same theme, obviously, the LDCs are working in that area; obviously, they have achieved money through their rates.  My question was, do you assume all of the benefits -- all of the programs in that area are going to be delivered by the LDCs and your role is more of coordination?  Or do you have specific programs you are delivering in those areas where LDCs are working?  


MR. ALMASSI:  We have made -- we have taken a position that in most cases, if not all, LDCs are ideal delivery agents for CDM programs.  To the extent possible, it's our intention to work very closely with them in the capacity of delivery agent, but also in other aspects of the program, as I mentioned, coordinating the design and the development.  


In some cases, where additional resources or additional expertise is required, we are partnering with other parties.  An example would be Social Housing Services Corporation, where they would be acting as our partner in the social housing, but, in turn, also Social Housing Services will be working very closely with LDCs.  That would be an example.  


MR. RICHMOND:  Okay, thank you.  


Moving off that and looking at your advertising program that you highlight as a $1.55 million initiative.  Again, my question relates to that program and in concert with LDCs, and obviously CDM entails some advertising too.  How are you coordinating these two advertising efforts to maximize the usefulness of it?  


MR. ALMASSI:  I would like to answer the question by bringing up an example of PowerWISE, which is a brand that has been created in the province by the LDCs.  And we are in the process of subscribing to PowerWISE, which would be -- the intention would be to coordinate our awareness campaign right across the markets with the LDCs.  


This is a work-in-progress, once again.  We are in the process of negotiation.  


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  


Even though it is indicated that it is part of your retail services division, now named –- 


MR. LYLE:  Electricity sector. 


MR. RICHMOND:  -- electricity sector development, in looking at the pre-filed evidence, most of the programs that would come out of there appear to be conservation related.  Is that fair to say, first of all?  


MR. LYLE:  I don't think so.  Can you clarify what you mean by that?


MR. RICHMOND:  Well, in looking at the pre-filed evidence, I think you used the words "conservation" a couple of times, "efficiency".  So one would assume, then, that at least part of that would fall under the umbrella of CDM. 


MR. LYLE:  Are you asking specifically about the technology fund?  


MR. RICHMOND:  Yes, I am.  


MR. LYLE:  Okay.  The technology fund is intended to address both supply technologies and demand-side technologies.  


MR. RICHMOND:  Okay.  How did you arrive at the funding amount of a million dollars for that fund?  


MR. LYLE:  Perhaps I could refer you to our evidence at Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 4, paragraph 30.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  What's that reference again, Mike?  


MR. LYLE:  I'm sorry, David, it is Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 4, paragraph 30.  It’s at page 8 of that schedule.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Thank you.  


MR. LYLE:  If you see towards the bottom of page 8, in paragraph 30, it talks about how we will be providing funding through managing institutions, such as CEA technology groups.  And also, if you look, then, at paragraph 32, you will see that what we're attempting to do as leveraging the OPA funding, with funding provided by others who are involved in these managing institutions.  


The thinking was that, in order to give the OPA a seat at the table and to be able to leverage our funds, approximately a million dollars was a necessary amount to be able to get that seat at the table with those managing institutions and exercise that leverage.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  Similar to the question I had asked you earlier about the other fund, do you have processes in place to measure the effectiveness of these programs, once they're ‑‑ once you have selected them?


MR. LYLE:  If you look still on the evidence at paragraph 34, you will see in that last sentence that we indicate that the ongoing monitoring of milestones and payments will be under the control of the managing institution.


But by the same token, the OPA's grants review committee, which also reviews grants under the conservation fund, will continue to play an ongoing role with respect to all funding decisions that are made through the technology fund, and we will play a monitoring role and we will provide quarterly reports with respect to the funds to the board of directors.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  Looking at the CDM, in general, as you're delivering it out of your conservation bureau, do you ‑‑ have you looked at some sort of optimal level of funding that should be in place for CDM?  I'm thinking not just through your agency, but what would be spent in the province.


MR. LYLE:  Well, I think Massoud is going to probably answer most of that, but perhaps I could just add that obviously we realize that the level of funding that is in the conservation bureau's budget is a small part of the money which will flow from OPA initiatives related to conservation.


Clearly, once we start implementing some of the Minister's directives, significant dollars will flow under procurement contracts, CDM procurement contracts that the OPA enters into.  And those -- as indicated earlier in the presentation, those dollars will flow through the charges line and through the global adjustment mechanism.


MR. ALMASSI:  I would say there are two elements that would contribute to the level of funding that would be required, two essential ones.  One is the program design.  That includes the directives as well - low income, lighting and appliances, those three initiatives.  As we speak, they are in the process of developing the design for these programs.  


The second element would be the results of the procurement that would be associated with those programs after the design is completed in early 2006.


At this point in time, it is not possible for us to provide -- to know those estimates.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  Would your agency be participating in the CDM hearings, as an integration piece effort?


MR. LYLE:  You're referring to the generic 2006 hearing that is scheduled for a hearing on December 22nd?


MR. RICHMOND:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. LYLE:  We have not sought intervenor status in that proceeding to date.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  Is there any reason why you would not be participating in that?


MR. LYLE:  Well, partly it's a resources issue, quite frankly.


We have been monitoring that proceeding, and when we get a chance, once we're finished the Technical Conference, answering undertakings, we're going to try to review the evidence that's been filed recently with the Board.  I believe last Friday was the filing deadline for evidence.


Obviously, if we see something there that would be of particular concern to the OPA, we would perhaps seek late intervenor status at that time, but we're not aware of anything like that at this time.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  Does the OPA -- or I guess the conservation bureau, specifically, do you have a view of what LDCs should be spending in their CDM efforts?


MR. ALMASSI:  No.  Frankly, I'm not prepared to comment, except that I would add, the mandate of conservation -- the OPA and conservation bureau is to promote and stimulate conservation and demand management in the province.


As such, we are doing whatever we can.  We intend to do whatever we can to achieve maximum results and conservation.  So we would be supportive of the most that can be done in that area for ourselves, as well as the LDCs.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  I know there are demand reduction targets that have been delivered quite a long time ago for the overall provincial demand reduction; namely, 5 percent by 2007, 10 percent by 2010.


Do you have a target that you are using as an agency for 2006?


MR. ALMASSI:  At this point in time, we have the directives for 250 megawatts for demand response and DSM.  That is a target for us.  The second one, there are targets associated with low income, 100 megawatts; another 100 megawatts associated with lighting and appliances.  Those are the very specific targets that we have at this point in time.


MR. LYLE:  Just also to mention York region, which is part of the 250 megawatts, that 20-megawatt procurement for York region specifically is underway with target specifically of summer of 2006.


MR. RICHMOND:  So the -- it's the aggregate of those programs that you've mentioned that is your target for '06, then?


MR. ALMASSI:  Potential additional programs in 2006 we're not prepared to specify, but we anticipate there might be potential additional programs.  

In addition, I would say, in reference to the total provincial targets, there are significant efforts under way, both, for example, government buildings for the ministries, as well as some LDCs who have significant targets for 2006.  


It would be a combination of all of those targets that would lead to the provincial target.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thanks.  I recognize this is your 2006 programs you're talking about principally, but I'm thinking about program continuity especially on the conservation side.


Do you have a view what your budgets would be going forward, at least in respect of:  Are they going to be more?  Are they going to be less?  Are they going to be similar?


MR. ALMASSI:  Going forward?


MR. RICHMOND:  Well, say, for the next two years.


MR. LYLE:  You're talking now specifically about the operating budget?


MR. RICHMOND:  Yes, I'm talking specifically about conservation as opposed to overall OPA.


MR. LYLE:  But the operating budget?


MR. RICHMOND:  That's correct.


MS. POON:  The operating budget for the company and conservation bureau, being a member of that organization, carrying out a longer-period forecast has not been taken under way.  Frankly, we're in the process of dealing with 2006.  So it is an endeavour to do that.  You know, frankly, as soon as we are through this process, we will commence the process for the subsequent years thereafter.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  Moving off conservation now and toward electricity sector development, what would you say is your legislative mandate for carrying out market development activities?  And you've mentioned some related to load-serving entities and a market for forwards and futures.


MR. LYLE:  Hmm‑hmm.  We believe our legislative mandate stems from a number of areas.  One area where it's specifically mentioned is found in Ontario Regulation 424/04, which is a regulation with respect to integrated power system planning.


It requires the OPA, in developing the integrated power system plan, and I will quote:

"... to identify and develop innovative strategies to encourage and facilitate competitive market-based responses and options for meeting overall system needs."


There is a subsequent paragraph that indicates that the IPSP is also to identify measures that will reduce reliance on procurement under the OPA's authority to enter into procurement contracts in the Act.


So that indicates to us that the government sees a role for the OPA in looking at innovative ways to encourage competitive electricity markets.  


In addition, there is also, in Ontario Regulation 426/04, in section 1 of that regulation, which is related to the Ontario Power Authority's procurement processes, an obligation on the OPA to consult with interested parties before commencing a procurement process that stems from the IPSP and approved procurement process.  We have to consult interested parties in order to be able to make an assessment of the capability of the ISO-administered markets or investments, otherwise -- to meet those needs before we do procurement ourselves.  


We see in that a clearly indicated preference of the government for private investment, without the need for procurement contracts from the OPA, where possible.  


In addition, if we move back to the objects of the OPA, which are found in 25.2(1) of the Electricity Act, you will see that clause (c) sets out an object for the OPA to engage in activities in support of the goal of ensuring adequate, reliable and secure electricity supply and resources in Ontario.  And the OPA believes that the best long-term way of addressing an adequate and reliable electricity system for Ontario is to have well-functioning, competitive electricity markets that feature liquid forwards markets.  We believe that, then, will generate the necessary private investment to ensure adequacy and reliability of our system going forward.  


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  


What plans have you made -- given that the IESO is working in this area too, what plans have you made to coordinate your initiatives with the IESO?


MR. LYLE:  We have been -- the electricity sector development group meets regularly with the market evolution group of the IESO.  And, as indicated in the evidence, there is a need to coordinate any load-serving entity initiative with IESO’s day-ahead market initiative.  And, as indicated in the evidence, our timing related to load-serving entity has to be tied to the timing of the day-ahead market initiative.  We see them as complimentary initiatives.  


Obviously, we believe that both organizations have some of the tools, but not all of the tools, that are necessary to develop better functioning electricity markets.  Obviously, the IESO has the tool of market rules, and we have the ability to contract for supply and capacity.  


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  


Those are all of the questions I had about the first part of the proceeding.  


QUESTIONED BY MR. VEGH:


MR. VEGH:  Maybe I will just ask a few supplemental questions in a couple of areas with a little more focus on the information that's come up today and that is in your pre-filed.  The two areas I want to ask you about are CDM and retail services.  


First, on CDM, I just want some clarification on what you're up to.  In your evidence starting at Exhibit B, page 2, schedule 3, page 6, you talk about what the OPA plans to do in the areas of residential, commercial and industrial, and then industrial and agricultural.  I am referring, in particular, to paragraph 18 where you start your discussion on the residential.  


So I will ask you about the residential, but I think that the questions really apply to the other sectors as well, because as I read it it's sort of cut and paste, and they're pretty well identical for all of those sectors; is that fair?  


MR. ALMASSI:  I would say, given that the conservation bureau has been operational for five months, and most of the initiatives that we have underway have not yet been designed and complete and underway, not as much details that we would have liked to be in those paragraphs are provided, but I wouldn't say that they are pretty much cut and paste.  There are significant differences there, which I could elaborate on, if you wish.  


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  Well, the area in particular -- maybe I will go through and you can tell me how they may differ between the sectors, but I will start with the residential.  First in residential, at paragraph 18, the program is described as, “focussing on facilitating coordination among LDCs and retailers on residential DSM, DR and CHP programs.” 


First, by clarification, when you speak about retailers here, you mean like electricity commodity retailers or just private retailers generally like HVAC dealers, Home Depot, those sorts of things?  


MR. ALMASSI:  We are referring to the participants, participants in DSM and demand response, specifically in the residential sector.  And that may include, yes, the commodity retailers, also the outlets, et cetera.  


These are all the potential partners, potential allies and participants in the market.  


MR. VEGH:  So by retailers you just mean sort of non-LDC, commercial service providers in the area?  


MR. ALMASSI:  That's correct.  


MR. VEGH:  Now, so those services provided by the -- we'll call them retailers, knowing it's a fairly broad term, but the services provided by retailers, do you see them being in a position to act independently from the OPA as well?  Or, generally, do you see them as always being, sort of, working very closely with the OPA?  


MR. ALMASSI:  Our mandate is to promote, assimilate, coordinate and, when necessary, to introduce province-wide programs.  But certainly we intend on supporting all other activities without necessarily being directly involved or being directly in charge.  So we certainly support all of those independent activities by the retailers, as well as LDCs.  


MR. VEGH:  When it comes to these independent retailers, you see them as acting in accordance with their own commercial objectives as well, and not necessarily as agents or somehow tied up with the OPA?  


MR. ALMASSI:  We certainly would welcome any market activity in the area of conservation and DSM.  That would be driven by the market.  That would be most welcome.  


MR. VEGH:  So you would consider that a positive thing, if a market were to develop CDM activities. 


MR. ALMASSI:  We would consider that very positive.  We would consider that part of the conservation culture, which is a part of our mandate and intent in promoting. 


MR. VEGH:  So then would you see -- you would see it as a positive thing if the market were to deliver these programs on its own as well, not just through the OPA?  


MR. ALMASSI:  Wherever and whenever possible, yes.  


MR. VEGH:  Would you see it as part of your role to try to at least facilitate that, or at least not stand in the way of the market delivering those sorts of programs?  


MR. ALMASSI:  Certainly.  


MR. VEGH:  What is it that you -- what is it that you would plan to -- maybe before I get to that.  I want to ask you then about the next sentence.  Because you say that, in the next sentence you say, your plans for residential CDM will also involve “developing province-wide programs for the residential sector in which LDCs may participate.”  Would that be open for parties other than LDC to participate as well?  


MR. ALMASSI:  Certainly.  


MR. VEGH:  So this is maybe just stated a little more restrictively, or suggested it may be a bit more restrictive than what you have in mind?  You're thinking of non-LDC. 


MR. ALMASSI:  I would say that is correct. 


MR. VEGH:  Would you be concerned about a consequence of your program being to, sort of, subsidize one element or one type of participant over another?  I mean, if it were a consequence of your program that, say, it was more preferential to LDCs or more preferential to retailers and therefore kind of distorted what the market provide, would you be concerned about that.


MR. ALMASSI:  That's not our intention, to give preference to any market participant.


Our intention is to maximize conservation results across the province, wherever and whenever it makes sense, and the parties who are best to deliver the results, whether it is a part of the market mechanism or it is a part of the province-wide program.


MR. LYLE:  If I could just emphasize Mr. Almassi's last point, which is it is the party that is best able to deliver the results, there may be circumstances in which an LDC is better situated than any other potential market participant to provide certain programs, and, in those circumstances, it may be that the OPA would give preference to an LDC, because we saw them as that more effective delivery agent.


MR. VEGH:  In doing that, I take it, though, you are not going in with the assumption that the LDCs are necessarily or inherently a more effective delivery agent?


MR. LYLE:  It really depends on the nature of the program and how you're intending to implement it.


MR. VEGH:  In general, then, is it fair to say then you would like to see a level playing field so that all participants can operate in these sorts of programs?


MR. LYLE:  Ideally.


MR. VEGH:  So will you be doing anything to ensure that a level playing field continues -- or level playing field exists with respect to the ability of participants to operate either in OPA programs or simply in the marketplace?


MR. ALMASSI:  As Mr. Lyle mentioned, it is different from initiative to initiative.  It very much depends, and the judgment has to be applied from one specific case to the next.  But the intention is there to ensure that the best party, the most effective party participant in conservation and DSM, gets a full opportunity to do what they do best.


MR. VEGH:  So with that, could you tell me, just going back to the first sentence, then, when you talk about facilitating coordination among LDCs and retailers, what do you see yourself really doing here?  I mean, given that retailers are operating in a free market and we're living in a free country, what do you see yourself doing in terms of coordinating their activities?


MR. ALMASSI:  Our role is to -- if the market is effective in achieving conservation results, that would be ideal.  Our role is to provide support in any shape or form where the market is not in best conditions to carry out and achieve the results.


So in that sense, once again, it would depend on the initiative.  It would depend on the market and the circumstances.


MR. VEGH:  So when we look at these other programs - commercial, industrial, industrial and agricultural; I didn't mean it in a pejorative sense that it is cut and paste - but with respect to the first two sentences in those paragraphs, I think the same sentiment is there.  


You talk about developing programs in which LDCs can participate - that's paragraph 22 - in respect of commercial and industrial, and with respect to industrial and agricultural, paragraph 24, you talk about developing province-wide programs in which LDCs may participate.  You would see other private companies participating in those programs, as well?


MR. ALMASSI:  I would refer ‑‑ I would refer to market participants.


MR. VEGH:  Yes.


MR. ALMASSI:  The principle here across the three markets is that the program, the province-wide program -- any potential province-wide program initiative and effort needs to be inclusive, inclusive of all other efforts that are already under way or progressing as such.


That is why -- I believe you're referring to the three markets being very similar in the first paragraph.  That's intended to be -- that's our intention that those programs are inclusive, primarily for a reason.  The one reason is not to duplicate, not to duplicate efforts and not to put effort where it is not required.


So in that sense, we intend to make them all inclusive of LDCs and I would say market participants.


MR. VEGH:  Okay, thank you for that.  So I had some questions, then, on the retail price-smoothing and market development.


The way this branch or division is described on slide 5 of the presentation today, there are two very distinct roles here.  The first is managing retail price-smoothing, and you refer to the section of the Electricity Act that requires you to do that.


Then the second objective you've described, I think, Mr. Lyle, today as a leading market evolution.


MR. LYLE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. VEGH:  It's really that leading market evolution mandate that I have some questions about.  Mr. Richmond already asked you about your legislative mandate.  I don't think we have to get into arguing the law here, but I just wanted to get a clarification.


In your evidence and in your answer, you spoke largely about the IPSP and the regulations - not the legislation, but the regulations - and how they require the OPA, in developing the IPSP and in developing the procurement process - I won't try to rephrase it - but basically to look for market solutions, as well as central contract solutions. 


 So is it fair to say that your key mandate, as you see it, is in the IPSP regulations and the procurement process regulation? 


MR. LYLE:  Well, I think our key mandate as an organization is ensuring an adequate, secure and reliable electricity system, and that is an object that is spelled out in the legislation.  As I indicated to Mr. Richmond, we believe that the best way, in the long term, of ensuring an adequate, reliable and secure electricity system for Ontario is by developing a functioning competitive electricity market for Ontario.


MR. VEGH:  This government -- this jurisdiction has a lot of government agencies, all of whom mandate somewhere includes cost-effectiveness and reliability and -- but you read this as putting the OPA in the lead as a market design body, almost like a new market design committee that the government has appointed.


MR. LYLE:  I don't know that I would say that we have somehow been appointed as the lead.  The OPA believes that this is a very important initiative and, therefore, is worthy of pursuit.


We believe we have some of the tools that are necessary to move us to a functioning, competitive electricity market and we're going to use those tools where we can to head in that direction.


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  I will ask you about those tools in a minute.


MR. LYLE:  Okay.


MR. VEGH:  Going back to the IPSP and the section you quote from in your evidence and what you repeated today, is it fair to say, then, you see this as an inherent part, really, of developing your IPSP and procurement process?


MR. LYLE:  It is certainly a part of developing the IPSP, yes.


MR. VEGH:  So when you come forward to the Board seeking approval of your IPSP, will you at that time also come forward to the Board seeking approval of these market innovations that you've developed?  


MR. LYLE:  Well, the IPSP will address what is required to be addressed in the regulation.  


MR. VEGH:  Yes, but my question was:  When you come forward to the Board seeking approval of your IPSP, is that the time when the Board will have the opportunity to review these initiatives, to see if you're actually meeting the goals that you have set out for them?


MR. LYLE:  I think the test that the OEB is to use, in reviewing the integrated power system plan, is to review the plan for economic prudence, cost effectiveness, and whether or not we have complied with direct -- any directives issued by the Minister of Energy.


So if the OEB believes that there's sufficient scope in that test for them to approve in some fashion the competitive strategies that are put forward in the IPSP, then, yes.  


MR. VEGH:  I'm not talking so much about competitive strategies, I'm talking about - and I will get into them in some more detail - but the things like your design around load-serving entities, your ambitions around a futures market, those sort of activities that you're undertaking.  


As I see it, you say your basis for doing those is that the IPSP regulations require you to consider and, perhaps, develop some market innovations.  If that is the case, I'm looking for, when will the issue of -- when will stakeholders and in particular ratepayers, who will pay for these innovations, have the opportunity to really have a look at them and be able to make submissions and comment as to whether or not these are appropriate things for the OPA to be pursuing?  Will it be through the IPSP process, given that you're relying on the IPSP mandate to develop these ideas?  


MR. LYLE:  Well, as I said, the integrated power system plan regulation does require us to address some of these issues in the integrated power system plan, and obviously there will be broad stakeholdering and, presumably, a hearing process at the OEB related to the integrated power system plan.  This is where we have an explicit obligation to address some of these matters.  


There are other ways of getting these issues before the Board.  As discussed in our evidence, if there was a move to load-serving entities serving RPP customers, that would require amendments to certain of the OEB's codes, and that, therefore, would require some sort of process, either initiated by this Board or some third party, including perhaps the OPA.  


So, it may be that some of these issues will be before the Board for consideration earlier than the IPSP.  It may be that some of the specifics around load-serving entities might be before this Board after the IPSP.  


MR. VEGH:  So on the load-serving entity front, you don't plan on -- or you would agree that before you were to engage in the types of pilot projects described in the evidence, you would come to the Board effectively to seek approval of those projects?  


MR. LYLE:  Well, there are certain changes to the Board's codes that, I believe, would be necessitated if there was to be load-serving entities serving RPP customers in Ontario, as the legislation and regulations and codes are currently structured.  


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  Can I ask you -- in looking at, again, the slides you prepared for today, slide 17, that's where you set out the budget.  I'm sure that's in the evidence somewhere as well, but this is a handy place to look at it.  You set out the budget for the retail price-smoothing and market development.  


I would like to go down the pieces here, because what I would like to have clarification around are the costs that are attributable to retail price-smoothing and that less ambitious and simple mandate that is set out in the legislation, and then the costs that are attributable separately to the market development.  


So when I go down the project initiatives - perhaps you could help me by going through that - the 420,000 for load-serving entities, that's on the market development side of that equation?  


MS. POON:  That's correct.  


MR. VEGH:  And market structure, 35 grand, that's on the market development side as well?  


MS. POON:  Market structure is more, sort of, a consultative report in regards to issues underpinning -- more of research reports for market structures. 


MR. VEGH:  But it's on the market development side, it is not on the price-smoothing side. 


MS. POON:  Yes, that's correct.  


MR. VEGH:  The next one is renewable and energy information and development.  I think that is described in your evidence at, where is it, page -- page 11?  Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 4, page 11. 


MS. POON:  Yes.  


MR. VEGH:  At paragraph 39.  That's the $320,000, that's the same one?  


MS. POON:  That's correct.  


MR. VEGH:  So there is 320; $220,000 of that is a standard offer contract process.  That's described here in paragraph 39, at tab 2, schedule 4, page 11.  That's described as, “to stimulate small renewable generation.”


MS. POON:  That's right.  


MR. VEGH:  I'm just curious as to why it is this cost is put into the retail price-smoothing and market development.  It seems like it fits more with your strategic objective around generation than it does around market development.  


MS. POON:  I think it is a function of how the departments are structured in regards to the fact that this group is responsible for, as the name change reflects, electricity development.  So I think this is a development stage.  This is something that's new and forthcoming, so consequently it did seem fit within our organization to put it there.  


MR. VEGH:  Well, the strategic objective number 2 is described at tab 2, schedule 2, page 1, and this objective -- these objectives -- sorry.  This objective is being implemented, as I see it, from the generation development group; strategic objective number 2. 


MS. POON:  In regards to procurement, is that what you're implying?  


MR. VEGH:  Well, in regards to generation, procurement of generation.  


MS. POON:  Well, I mean the actual procurement of a contract is carried out by the generation group.  However, in development, any aspects of what is being procured is really a function of working within other departments.  It’s just as conservation development, demand response initiatives.  I mean, those initiatives will be procured in the marketplace, however, the actual development of those aspects and everything that underpins that is carried out in the conservation bureau.  It’s sort of no different than that. 


MR. VEGH:  We're not talking about the conservation bureau here. 


MS. POON:  I know.  I'm just giving you that as an example.  So consequently, the load-serving -- this concept resides within the development process, or the analysis of that, and the straw man underpinning that, in a group that is attempting to look at the forward market.  


MR. VEGH:  Now, the standard offer program is a program for new generation development; right?  


MR. LYLE:  Yes.  But the -- I think what Ms. Poon is saying is that the design of the program, the development and design of the standard offer program has been given to our electricity sector development group.  Once it becomes at a stage more in the form of implementation and once we actually have contracts to manage, then the generation development group will take on more of a role with respect to the standard offer program.  


MR. VEGH:  I understand you're a new organization and you're using your capacities where they exist.  I'm not trying to be critical of that.  I'm just trying to understand, as we go through the components here, this money around renewable energy information and development is largely aimed at developing generation as opposed to, say, retail price-smoothing.  


MR. LYLE:  I would agree that it's not retail price-smoothing. 


MS. POON:  Yes.  


MR. VEGH:  Maybe it's the simplest thing.  It's not retail price-smoothing.  Your technology fund, that's the next entry here, of a million dollars.  Is that retail price-smoothing?  


MR. LYLE:  No, it's not retail price-smoothing. 


MR. VEGH:  When we look at your base cost here of the 1,371, first can you tell me how do you derive that base cost?  


MS. POON:  As noted in the evidence on paragraph 36, on page 11, the base costs are the compensation benefit costs and general program costs of carrying out this department.  It is really the head count. 


MR. VEGH:  The head count?  So how many people do you have?  


MS. POON:  Bear with me.  It’s provided in the evidence, Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, page 30.  It's our business plan.  It's appendix E.  There is actually a number of our head count, and that is expected to be eight people at the end of 2005.


MR. VEGH:  So for these base costs, is it possible to allocate how much of this base cost, in rough figures, in rough percentages, are really attributable to retail price-smoothing on the one hand, and how many of this is really attributable to market development on the other?


MS. POON:  Actually, if you look at the organization structure within the electricity development group, I mean, encompassed in that group is a director and retailer pricing.  There is management in that area.  There is analysis in that area.  So a lot of our specific people in that area do have a significant role in that area.


MR. VEGH:  Role in what, sorry?


MS. POON:  In retail smoothing.


MR. VEGH:  Let me try to put it this way.  If all you did was retail price-smoothing - that is, you could have carried the account, how many people would be required to provide that?


MS. POON:  I think these people go beyond than just carrying the count.  I mean, they are in complete interaction with the Ontario Energy Board.  In looking at the price forecasts, they're in constant communication and we're trying to bridge, you know, how to do things in the most expedient way.  I mean, there is a level of development.  But we are in the development stage, as we have noted.


MR. VEGH:  So if we were to look at a breakdown, and I appreciate it's going to be a rough guess, but is it 50/50, these base costs, that would be attributable to market development versus retail price-smoothing?  Is it more on market development or is it more on price-smoothing?


MS. POON:  I'm going to have to undertake to do that.  I'm not really that clear at this stage.


MR. VEGH:  That would be helpful, if you could provide that sort of undertaking, and even perhaps one way to answer it is to have a breakdown of how much time is spent on retail price-smoothing versus market development.


MS. POON:  Sure.


MR. VEGH:  That would be very helpful.  

UNDERTAKING A:  TO PROVIDE BREAKDOWN OF HOW MUCH TIME 
IS SPENT ON RETAIL PRICE-SMOOTHING VERSUS MARKET 
DEVELOPMENT


MR. VEGH:  Just a few more questions on this market development, and, again, I would like to just be specific about some of the points here, some of the activities you are pursuing.


We talked about the LSE a little bit, anyway.  And can you tell me ‑- I'm sorry, I'm looking at Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 4, page 7.  So Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 4 ‑‑ I'm sorry, page 3.  I got it confused.  I'm looking at the paragraph number.  Paragraph number 7.


You talk about the – sorry, I will let you catch up.  You talk about the price-smoothing, but you say:

"Longer term, there is a need to investigate alternative features to provide more enduring price stability."


Then you talk about the load-serving entity as a concept that is intended to achieve this.


Can you just tell me what is your basis for ‑‑ is this like an ideological position or is this something you have researched that LSEs will actually achieve more enduring price stability to customers?


MR. LYLE:  The OPA believes that -- I mean, the fundamental flaw with the RPP model is that it continues to expose RPP customers to short-term price fluctuations.


We believe that greater price stability will be provided to RPP customers over the longer term if there is  an ability to enter into longer term forwards contracts, and the LSCs is a mechanism in order to be able to achieve that.


MR. VEGH:  So apart from that statement, what I'm getting at is:  Do you have any basis for any of this?  Have you carried out studies or analysis or research to suggest that this is actually the case?


MR. LYLE:  We are working on developing the concept, but the belief of the organization in the benefits of competitive markets stems from the experience that the executive team brings to bear.


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  Well, it's good to know the basis for that statement, then.  As you've said, to the extent that you actually go ahead with some sort of pilot project, you will be bringing that to the Board, because that could require changes to the standard ‑‑ to the standard supply service code.  So I guess there will be the ‑‑ and at that time, I take it you will be ‑‑ in seeking those changes, is that when you will try to make the case beyond just sort of a statement of belief that load-serving entities will lead to improvement?  Is that when you will try to make the case that this could actually lead to real benefit for customers?


MR. LYLE:  I would imagine we'll have to make some case to the Board that there are benefits to moving to this mechanism.


I'm not really clear exactly how we will frame our case at this point in time.


MR. VEGH:  But that might be a better time to scratch at the surface of this belief than this case, or -- because right now we ‑‑


MR. LYLE:  I think certainly it will be more relevant to that proceeding, yes.


MR. VEGH:  That's a good way to answer that.


The other innovation you talk about, going over to paragraph 14 on page 5, you talk about the forwards and future products.


So on page 5 - I'm really looking at paragraphs 14 to 16 - you talk about exchanges.  I'm not really clear, frankly, what you have in mind here.  What is it that the OPA plans to actually do about bringing forward a futures exchange in Ontario?  You don't plan to run an exchange, do you?


MR. LYLE:  No, we don't.


MR. VEGH:  So when you say that these products, forwards and future products, are available in Canadian and other jurisdictions and most market participants are already using these tools, and then you talk about your initiative -- you say your initiative is to test third-party interest in setting up an exchange.


I guess, in the normal course, these sorts of exchanges are actually created by market participants to make their trading more efficient?


MR. LYLE:  I think that is fair.


MR. VEGH:  As opposed to having sort of a government agency come in and create this exchange in the absence of market participants really trading?  


MR. LYLE:  I think it is indicated here that we don't intend to do that, that we intend to facilitate discussion to see whether there is that interest in setting up such an exchange for Ontario.


MR. VEGH:  But why do buyers and sellers require your facilitation of a discussion between them to see if there is an interest in an exchange?  Won't they produce it if they're interested in it?


MR. LYLE:  Sometimes, particularly given the situation of the marketplace in Ontario right now and one of the reasons why the OPA exists in the first place, is some of these initiatives need a kick-start because of the lack of confidence that currently exists in the Ontario marketplace.


MR. VEGH:  What sort of kick-start do you have in mind?


MR. LYLE:  A kick-start, as I said here, is that we're going to facilitate discussions on the concept of a forwards market.  But that is all within the context of other initiatives that are talked about that are intended to increase liquidity on the buy side and sell side of the market.


MR. VEGH:  Let me try it this way, because I'm still trying to get it clear.  You want to facilitate discussion.  That's fine.  But what is it -- to put it bluntly, what is it that the OPA brings to the table in facilitating discussion between buyers and sellers on the value of an exchange?


MR. LYLE:  Well, the OPA obviously has tools in its statute with respect to its contracting powers.


The OPA may, in its discussions, hear from parties that what -- there may be obstacles to the creation of a forwards market in Ontario that the OPA might be able to address with one of the tools that it has under its authorities. 
     MR. VEGH:  Perhaps.  But I'm still not really sure what that means.  You say you have tools and you might be able to use them.  


MR. LYLE:  Well, I think you're asking me to speculate on a conversation that hasn't really taken place yet, so it is hard for me to really respond to that.  In 2006 we're going to facilitate some of these discussions, and then we're going to get some feedback and we're going to listen to that feedback.  


MR. VEGH:  So that's all you plan to do for 2006?  


MR. LYLE:  That's correct.  


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  Now, in paragraph 15, you go on to talk about these exchanges.  You say there, the third sentence, you say they are, “typically owned and operated by third parties on a for-profit basis.”  Then you say:

“To the extent there are costs to Ontario, these will be analyzed and allocated appropriately to ensure there is no duplication.” 


Could you tell me what that sentence means in this context?


MR. LYLE:  Sorry, could you direct me to where exactly the sentence is?  


MR. VEGH:  Paragraph 15.  


MR. LYLE:  Sorry, I heard 13.  


I think I might need to take an undertaking for that.  Perhaps you could clarify exactly what you're seeking.  


MR. VEGH:  Well, the statement is: 

“To the extent there are costs to Ontario, these will be analyzed and allocated appropriately to ensure there is no duplication.” 


My question is what this sentence means in the context of this paragraph.  Who will be doing an analysis, who will be doing an allocation, and what sort of costs are you talking about? 


MR. LYLE:  We will make our best efforts to respond to that.


UNDERTAKING B:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION REGARDING WHO 
WILL BE CONDUCTING AN ANALYSIS, WHO WILL BE DOING AN 
ALLOCATION, AND WHAT COSTS ARE ASSOCIATED WITH 
EXCHANGES

MR. VEGH:  Next paragraph, paragraph 16, you say:

“OPA working on this initiative” 
- you have now clarified what this initiative is, that is, to start a conversation or start discussions, 
“will be managed by a mix of internal and 
external resources.  External resources will be 
used to provide commodities trading expertise.”  


Then it says: 

“Any required procurement will be undertaken in accordance with OPA policies and procedures.” 

     What sort of procurement are you talking about?  Is that procurement of consultants? 


MR. LYLE:  Yes, that is procurement of consultants.  


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  I have a better understanding of that now, then.  Okay.  Thank you.  Do you have anything else?  


Elaine Wong is going to have some questions for you as well.  


MS. WONG:  I have a couple of supplementary questions.  With reference to the slide you presented this morning, on page 3, the direct operations. 


MR. DINGWALL:  Sorry to interrupt, but I think there is going to be some difficulty hearing you.  


MS. WONG:  Can you hear me?  


MR. DINGWALL:  No.  


MS. WONG:  I'm referring to the line “professional and consulting fees.”


MS. POON:  Right.  


MS. WONG:  And it amounts to approximately 7.9 million, and that represents a little bit over a half of the compensation and benefits budget.  


My question is, noting that it is quite a significant amount in comparison to the regular staff budget, how does OPA ensure the quality and the standard of consulting service?  Are there any internal controls that exist to ensure that the consulting services meet the organizational and mandate objectives?  


MS. POON:  In regards to any consulting dollars that are carried out, there is always underpinning it a consulting contract, which will specifically identify deliverables, needs that are required specifically by the OPA.  So these contracts will be thoroughly drafted up with specific milestones, deliveries, and we'll have to go through the appropriate procurement process and approval process within the OPA organization.  


MS. WONG:  Thank you.  


As noted earlier, the OPA is still in the process 
of -– 


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Excuse me.  Could you go to a mike that works, please.  


MS. WONG:  Can you all hear me now?  As noted earlier, you said that the OPA is still in the process of building, and I believe one of the -- part of it is to build its staff.  It's noted in the evidence that the staff level will be raised up to 98 persons.  I'm particularly referring to Exhibit D, tab 2.  


MS. POON:  Yes.  


MS. WONG:  Schedule 1, page 2.  Sorry, rather it is page 4.  


MS. POON:  Yes.  


MS. WONG:  To the extent, as I mentioned earlier, you're still building your staff and there will be uncertainties in the way -- there will be uncertainties as to unexpected directives, what would OPA do if the staff is not fully utilized?  


MS. POON:  I think -- is not fully utilized?  


MS. WONG:  Like, if you have staff up to 98 and yet you find that you do not need all of your staff –- 


MS. POON:  Well, as we noted in Exhibit D, 2, tab 3, page -- okay.  Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 1, page 3 of that evidence.  I mean, we, in carrying out our staffing plan, take into consideration furthermore -- take into consideration if staff's really required to carry out a long-term need.  We're not going to hire people for one-time initiatives, you know, specialized functions that have a very small time or window.  


There is a lot of effort put into determining if there is a need from a long-term perspective and at which point, unfortunately, it doesn't happen that our -- that the staff are underutilized.  


MS. WONG:  Thank you.  


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  I would suggest -- we're finished, the Board Staff, on these series of questions.  


MR. LYLE:  One second on that, Mr. Vegh.  You do have a few other questions to be, to see -- we're not planning anything further on our presentation for this afternoon.  We're going to be focussing on the non-controllable items relating to the retailer payments and the government cost transfers in that presentation.  


So if you want to ask your 2B and 2C questions now, we would be happy to answer them now.  


MR. RICHMOND:  Yes, we had a few, sort of, general interest that covered some the areas you had already discussed, but maybe we need to take a short break, then, and then ask those questions.  


MR. VEGH:  Well, that is helpful.  Why don't we take a `break for 15 minutes.  We will regroup and see if we have any more questions for you, and then the other people can go at it.  


So it is 11:30.  Why don't we get back together at quarter to 12.  


MR. LYLE:  Thank you.  


--- Recess taken at 11:30 a.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 11:45 a.m.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

MR. VEGH:  Why don't we get back to work?  So I have talked to people about timing, and the questions.  We don't think we have any more questions at this time.  We may take an advantage right at the end of this part of it to ask some clean-up questions, but I we want to hand it over to the parties for now.


So in speaking to the parties around timing, I understand that VECC is going to be about 20 minutes on this, for this panel, and CME is going to be around 30 minutes, so if we go ahead with those two parties, that will probably take us to lunch.  So, Roger, why don't you go ahead?

MR. HIGGIN:  Good morning, everybody.  Roger Higgin, I am representing VECC today.


I just had a couple of process concerns about this proceeding, really, to the Chairman.  First of all, I would like to see that we actually have numbers, numbered exhibits.  I think the two presentations or the three presentations that OPA has provided today should be given exhibit numbers.


I think that undertakings - and I will ask for some more - should be given exhibit or undertaking numbers, a J number or something different to exhibit.  Therefore, we will keep a proper record of those, and then when the responses come, we will be able to match them up with the transcript, and so on, a lot better.  So I would just like to get us a bit organized, if we could, in those respects.


MR. VEGH:  Okay, that's fine.  How many exhibits do we have?


MR. LYLE:  There's two that have been introduced to date.  There was the first presentation, Mr. Chair, and then a Word document with respect to procurement.


MR. VEGH:  Could you perhaps just identify each of these documents, and then we could put an exhibit number on them?


MR. LYLE:  The first document, Mr. Chair, is a document titled "Summary of OPA" ‑‑


MR. VEGH:  Stop calling me "Mr. Chair", please.


MR. LYLE:  George -- is a summary of OPA's strategic objectives.


MS. WONG:  Exhibit 1.1.


EXHIBIT NO. 1.1:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "SUMMARY OF OPA'S 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES"

MR. LYLE:  The second document ‑‑


MR. RAFFAELLE:  You might want to call that answer to OEB Staff Question 1A.


MR. VEGH:  All right.


MS. POON:  It's the response to the OEB's written interrogatory.


MR. VEGH:  It's entitled "OEB Technical Conference December 8th, 2005".


MR. LYLE:  That is the title that is on the title page of the document, yes.


MS. WONG:  This document is going to be Exhibit 1.2.


EXHIBIT NO. 1.2.  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "OEB TECHNICAL 
CONFERENCE", DATED DECEMBER 8, 2005

MR. VEGH:  Okay.  So in terms of numbering the undertakings, given that we haven't started numbering them yet, perhaps - reporter, I'm looking at you - maybe you could help us out as to the best way to do that.  Perhaps the Board Staff undertakings for these purposes could just be -- when we go back through the record, through the transcript, perhaps just do them by a letter, A, B, C, D, and we could start numerically now with the undertakings starting at number 1 and moving forward.


MR. HIGGIN:  Then the other one, Mr. Chairman -- or, George, is the question of the Board Staff questions.  Has that been given an exhibit number or not in the proceeding?


MR. VEGH:  I think the Board Staff questions were attached to a document in this proceeding already through some correspondence, but I'm not sure that the sheet of questions themselves were introduced or put forward today.  So I don't think they ‑- I think they're already in the record as Board correspondence.


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay, that's fine.  Thanks.  Are we done with the sort of administration things so I can move on?


MR. ADAMS:  I don't think so.  Does that one have a number?


MR. LYLE:  We have yet to into introduce that.  We're going to be talking to that later.


QUESTIONED BY MR. HIGGIN:

MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  I would like to start by asking a few questions about the PSP group and also particularly about the IPSP preparation and the plan for that.


Perhaps just as a point of departure, we could look at Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1 on page 5 of 10 of your pre-filed evidence.  Okay?  The first question that I have is an understanding of the budget in terms of:  How far does the budget take you in the process that is shown?  


If you refer to paragraph 17, you will see there's kind of a schedule there of events in paragraph 17.  So the question is:  How far does the 1.572 million go in terms of that process?


MR. GIBBONS:  The 1.572 million covers the complete process.


MR. HIGGIN:  Then my question is obviously, then:  That includes, then, all of the regulatory review and other costs?


MS. POON:  No.  The regulatory costs for the IPSP is likely to actually hit our 2007 budget, because, frankly, you would be in the process of reviewing that within the 2006 fiscal year.  The costs underpinning that is -- in our view, the whole process would not be completed until the 2007 fiscal year.


MR. HIGGIN:  But you told us that it is going to be August when it is filed.


MS. POON:  Right.


MR. HIGGIN:  So there will not be any processes, any costs related, then, in 2006 to the review of that document by stakeholders, or whatever process the Board decides, after August 2006?


MS. POON:  The costs associated with the stakeholder intervenor costs generally hit the books of the organization at the time in which we are, in fact, having to pay those cost awards, and it is likely after the decision.  And we are of the view that it's frankly potentially in 2007.


MR. HIGGIN:  Well, the question I'm coming up to is:  Given the uncertainty in those costs, in that quantum, should you be considering some sort of variance account request to the Board to cover off those costs, and then we'd have an accounting order that would properly track any costs that are beyond the 1.572 million?


MS. POON:  Embedded ‑‑ I mean, as being a new organization, it is very likely we miss things in our budgeting, and so we have embedded within our budgeting process a $1.4 million contingency fund.


With that in mind, we have a degree of buffer for that.


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Now, the other thing is:  Do you have a proper, full business plan, project plan for the IPSP; in other words, the source document for which this section of your evidence is provided?


In other words, that would have an organization chart showing who is doing what within your organization; it would have a flow chart with budgets for each phase of the project; it would have the stakeholder process and budgets shown, et cetera.


Do you have such a document?


MR. GIBBONS:  That is under development at the moment.


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So the answer is, no, you don't have such a document yet.  Okay.  Can't file anything else  that would supplement this evidence?


MR. GIBBONS:  Not at this point.


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.


MR. LYLE:  I should say that the focus of the power system planning group in the last couple of months has been very much on developing the supply mix advice.  When that work is completed, they're going to be able to shift resources and focus to working on the integrated power system plan, and that is the intention.


MR. HIGGIN:  Right.  Okay, this will be another question, regulated related.  Stakeholder engagement, this will be a recurring theme in  various parts of our questions. 
     First of all, can you then describe the stakeholder engagement process related to the IPSP, that's prior to filing the document with the OEB, and specifically how is that going to be funded?  


MR. HAY:  The stakeholder process, with respect to the IPSP, is also under development in conjunction with the IPSP plan itself.  


As the evidence suggests, there are three phases of stakeholdering identified at that point in time.  The budget that is reflected within the evidence relates specifically to the direct costs incurred by the OPA with respect to its activities.  


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So that is your in-house costs?  So there is no funding support for any other -- for stakeholder groups as part of that budget?  


MR. HAY:  Not in the budget.  


MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  


Now, finally, on this particular ISP, in most other jurisdictions that develop a multi-year ISP-type of plan, and we can cite Quebec, we can cite Manitoba, the costs of that plan and its review and development are amortized.  The regulatory treatment is to amortize them over a period of the plan, which would normally be anywhere from three to five years.  Has the OPA considered what regulatory treatment it will seek for those costs?  


MR. LYLE:  You're talking now specifically about the costs to the OPA of developing the plan, is that – 


MR. HIGGIN:  The total costs which would include, I assume, post-filing regulatory, everything else.  So the total package of costs.  What regulatory treatment are you proposing?  


MR. LYLE:  I think –-


MR. HIGGIN:  Do you expense them in one year, or two years, or to amortize them?  


MR. LYLE:  Well, I think what you've seen is our operating budget, and we are expensing the 1.5 million in 2006.  The IPSP is going to be ongoing.  We're going to have to be filing a new one every three years, so it is a little like painting the Golden Gate Bridge.  We're going to be constantly involved in developing an IPSP or taking an IPSP through a regulatory process.  


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So you're going to expense all costs in the year incurred.  That is your regulatory treatment; correct?  


MS. POON:  That's correct.  


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.  


Next area I would like to move on to is the actual stakeholdering process and budgets.  If we could perhaps look at Exhibit B, schedule 5, page 6.  That outlines some of the stakeholdering plans.  


I have two questions.  If you aren't able to answer, obviously, we will look for an undertaking.  The first question is:  “Please provide details of the 2005,” that's the historic year, “stakeholder engagement.  Specifically, indicate the degree to which electricity end-use customers were directly engaged in 2005 processes.” 


MS. POON:  We will have to undertake to do that.  


MS. WONG:  Undertaking number 1.


UNDERTAKING NO. 1:  TO PROVIDE DETAILS OF DEGREE TO 
WHICH ELECTRICITY END-USE CUSTOMERS WERE DIRECTLY 
ENGAGED IN THE PROCESS FOR THE 2005 STAKEHOLDER 
AGREEMENT 


MR. HIGGIN:  Now, for 2006, that's the year that is before us, what I would like, again, is what measures are you planning to increase end-use customer participation in OPA processes?  In other words, is there a stakeholdering plan for 2006, with budgets?  And if so, could you please file a copy of that stakeholdering plan.  


MR. HAY:  We are working on such a plan currently.  As you appreciate, and as has been said before, we are a new creature under legislation.  We have a mandate for stakeholdering under legislation, and we see that mandate also being fulfilled with the direction of the IPSP, which is one of our prime drivers.  


As I said a moment ago, we are currently developing a plan, in conjunction with the PSP group, for that stakeholdering activity, which will be our primary occupation and the primary thrust of stakeholdering certainly during the first number of months for -- first and second quarter of 2006.  


At that time we will then be in a position to have, basically, completed the model which we have been working on to create a methodology that would be consistent both at the provincial level, at the regional level and local level.  


At this point in time, because we are still in the process of developing that, I'm not in a position to give you detailed specifics, but we anticipate having the model itself designed by the end of the first quarter of 2006.  


MR. HIGGIN:  You can, perhaps, see the dilemma that some of us ratepayer groups, stakeholders have, and that is, we're asked to approve a stakeholdering budget without a plan.  We don't know whether we are or are not to be engaged in that plan and how, therefore, that is our dilemma.  Can you help us?  


MR. HAY:  I believe the record will show that we have taken an approach which emphasizes openness, transparency and inclusiveness.  In the model with respect to, and the work with respect to, the supply mix, for example, we did consult with some 879 Ontarians directly for their opinion, via an Internet sample.  We invited submissions from across the province and received 187 there from.  We invited some 38 expert groups to come and talk to us directly on the subject, of which I believe some 25 did participate directly.  


In addition to that, we selected from a cross-section of well-informed Ontarians, both in the consumer group and in the producer groups, if you will, a cross-section of people to be intensely interviewed on their views with respect to the development of a supply mix submission.  In fact, 62 of them were interviewed in depth.  


They, in turn, were invited to participate in a one-day workshop, some of whom are in this room, with respect to a program of deepening the understanding of the OPA with respect to the concerns of various elements and sectors of the public.  


What we are attempting to do in working with an outside consultant who was chosen through a RFP and is very well experienced internationally in the process of stakeholdering, is to come up with a transparent and open model that involves a broad cross-section of society, and maybe reapplied with some degree of consistency to give effective as well as very cost-efficient results.  We will be reviewing both the experience that we've had at a provincial level with respect to the supply mix, and the more specific geographic experiences that we've had, for example, in York region in the next few weeks, and using that as a basis to finalize the design of the model which, as I said, we anticipate having completed by the end of March or sooner of 2006.

MR. HIGGIN:  Now, you would be aware that the IESO, in developing its stakeholdering plan, its first step was to consult with stakeholders about the development of the plan.  Have you taken such a step?  


MR. HAY:  We have certainly initiated a feedback process.  Indeed, we have received some very significant feedback with respect to the steps that we've taken already.  It is certainly part of our plan to include a feedback and review loop on any activity we undertake in that regard with respect to stakeholdering, including, at the end of every stakeholder step we take in 2006, providing every stakeholder participating with an instrument to give us direct feedback on the process as they see it.  But as I have suggested to you, we are looking to evolve and develop a plan that works for all parties concerned.  


MR. HIGGIN:  Well, are you willing to file the consultant’s terms of reference for the stakeholder plan development?  If you haven't got the plan, are you willing to file the consultant’s terms of reference, the scope?  


MR. HAY:  From our point of view, it was a public process, in terms of developing the RFP and responding to the RFP, and I see no difficulty in that regard.  


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay, that would be an undertaking, please.  


MR. LYLE:  That's subject to any concerns the consultant may have about confidentiality, which I don't anticipate.  


MR. HIGGIN:  Of course, thank you.  

     MS. WONG:  That will be Undertaking No. 2.  


UNDERTAKING NO. 2:  TO PROVIDE THE CONSULTANT’S TERMS 
OF REFERENCE FOR THE STAKEHOLDER PLAN DEVELOPMENT 


MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  My next area is just a couple of quick questions about the procurement process, and particularly about the role of the OPA in the regulatory process.


So let's take as an example the Goreway plans, okay, as an example, and say, Okay, they will have to go for leave to construct under the relevant section of the Act, both for electrical facilities, and, if they wish to, as they did in the past, build their own gas pipeline, they may go also under the gas section for such leave to construct, okay.


So the question I'm asking is:  What role does the OPA anticipate in that process in support of that application?  Is that going to be as an active intervenor, supporter of the proponent?  What role will you play in that particular process of leave to construct?


MR. RAFFAELLE:  The proponent, whether it is Goreway or others, are responsible for all the permitting, approvals, et cetera.  We wouldn't play an active role in intervening in any way.


MR. LYLE:  I should say in the Calpine-Mitsui case, we did obtain intervenor status, but we have not been actively involved in the proceeding.  We've been playing an observer role.


MR. HIGGIN:  So you don't plan to make any active intervention in those processes?  You will leave that up to the Board and the proponent?


MR. RAFFAELLE:  That's correct.


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.  Next one I would like to talk about is the conservation bureau.  If we could -- just as a way into this, if you could look at Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule B -- sorry, schedule 3, paragraph 29.  That's just a way to get into that.


First of all, a simple question:  Has there been a conservation report for 2005, or is it only going to be ‑- is the first one to be 2006?


MR. ALMASSI:  Peter Love, the chief conservation officer of the province, issued the first report on November the 7th.  That is posted on our web site and has been issued, and I trust you are aware of that.  Is that the question?


MR. HIGGIN:  That's the question.  I hadn't actually seen it, but that was the question.


MR. ALMASSI:  The answer is, yes, the first report has already been issued.


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Then the other question is:  Has OPA done what I call a province-wide conservation potential study by sector such as has been done in many other provinces, for example, again, Manitoba, Quebec, et cetera, as a precursor to the development of its strategic plan for conservation?  Have they done such a sectoral study?


MR. GIBBONS:  This will be done as part of the integrated power system plan.


MR. HIGGIN:  So at the moment, you don't have any idea what the conservation potential for electricity conservation in this province is at this point?


MR. ALMASSI:  If you are asking whether we have specific estimates for that at this point in time, no.


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.  So just to repeat, that will be -- a conservation potential study will be one of the components of the ISP; is that my understanding is your answer?


MR. GIBBONS:  It will.  And we should point out that this also will be discussed in the supply mix advice that is being given to the Minister tomorrow.


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.  Now, I would like to try to understand the response on this question.  The issue is universality of C&DM across this province.  Just by example, do you know what the current reach of the LDCs' C&DM programs is across this province, in terms of the number of customers that are being reached by C&D M programs?


MR. ALMASSI:  The answer is no, and that's partly because we have not seen an assessment of the current LDCs' CDM programs in terms of how many customers they have reached and also other metrics associated with those programs, if that's the question.


MR. HIGGIN:  You have no estimate of that?  I'm surprised to hear that answer, because we know how many programs were approved by this Board.  We know how many customers those utilities have.  So as a minimum, that would be an indicator of the reach.


MR. ALMASSI:  May I ask you to clarify the question?  I understood the question whether -- how many customers have already been reached?


MR. HIGGIN:  No.  It's --


MR. ALMASSI:  The answer is, no, we don't know.


MR. HIGGIN:  It's the reach, the potential.  How many customers out of 4 million, approximately, electricity customers currently are being "reached" by the current LDC program?  Universality is the issue.


MR. ALMASSI:  I understand.  The terminology used, "reached", as a past tense, the answer is, no, we don't know.  But we do agree what -- the principle of universality, as well, as the fact that conservation efforts should be concentrated in areas where the highest potential exists in supplement to the universality principle that you mentioned.


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Now, what strategies have you got in place to increase universality of C&DM programs so that access is available to all electricity customers in the province?  What strategies have you got?


MR. ALMASSI:  I would like to mention that the conservation bureau has been operational for five months, and we are in the process of developing not only program designs, but the overall approach in many respects.  So at this point in time, I cannot comment on that, but this is work in progress.


MR. HIGGIN:  Right.  Okay.  I have a couple of other minor questions on the C&DM.  What do you see as the major obstacles right now to going to universality, to try and achieve a goal of universality?  What are the major obstacles?


MR. ALMASSI:  I would like to call for an undertaking for that question.


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay, that would be fine.  We're interested to know ‑‑


MS. WONG:  That will be Undertaking No. 3.


UNDERTAKING NO. 3:  TO PROVIDE CURRENT UNIVERSALITY 
AVAILABLE, AND STRATEGIES AND BARRIERS TO ACHIEVING 
UNIVERSALITY FOR C&DM

MR. HIGGIN:  Just to help you, what we would like to know, as a point of departure, where you are ‑‑ where are 
-- how much universality is now available, and what are your strategies and what barriers you see to achieving universality for C&DM.  Thank you.


MR. ALMASSI:  Thank you.


MR. HIGGIN:  Now, the other question we have is related to utility conservation, what we might call -- sometimes it is called loss reduction initiatives.


So the question is, to OPA:  Are you making any plans to address the issues, which are many, around LDC loss reduction programs?


MR. ALMASSI:  Could you please define "loss reduction program" so we can be clear in terms of terminology?


MR. HIGGIN:  It means that everything from the delivery point to the customer's meter is -- the energy delivered there, there is losses.  The average round about 1.06 is a standard loss factor.


Those losses are due to thermal losses, metering, you know, a number of factors, and there are a number of technologies and other ways to address those.  That's one way you could pick up quite a large number of megawatts, potentially.


So are you doing anything as a strategy, as OPA, to address LDC loss reductions?


MR. ALMASSI:  The answer is, no, we are not.  As I mentioned, once again, the overall strategy for potential initiatives is work-in-progress, but we certainly are not working on this particular initiative at this point.  


MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  


My last area of questions on this section is respecting the technology fund, which is Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 4, page 8.  That's the $1 million technology fund.  The question is very straightforward; that is, what incremental benefit cost of the 1 million expenditure is going to be delivered by that expenditure compared to, for example, other strategies, such as participating directly with the Ontario Centre For Energy, those type of things, that you could have done to leverage and achieve your goals?  


MR. LYLE:  Well, let me refer you to paragraph 30 of Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 4.  We indicate that we are going to be dealing with managing institutions, and one of those is the Ontario Centre of Excellent for Energy.  We indicate at paragraph 30 that our strategy is, in fact, a leverage of the funds by augmenting OPA funds with funding provided by other organizations.  


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So the strategy, what I am having a problem with, is put in place infrastructure costs to administer $1 million rather than providing support to an existing institution and, for example, getting membership on its board, et cetera.  Why take that strategy?  It seems a high overhead cost to administer, $1 million.  


MR. LYLE:  I think we're actually agreeing with each other.  I think the strategy that we have evolved is, in fact, to provide our funding through managing institutions, because as you say, that infrastructure is already in place.  And we are, in fact, through that funding, trying to get a seat at the table.  


MR. HIGGIN:  You have to buy a seat.  Sorry.  


MR. LYLE:  Is that a question?  


MR. HIGGIN:  No.  Those are my questions.  


I thank you, panel.  


MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  I think the CME wanted to go next, Mr. Dingwall. 


MR. DINGWALL:  Yes, I'm looking at the clock, Mr. Vegh, and I'm seeing Dr. Higgin's questions might have been on the metric 20 minutes.  I'm not sure what the –- 


MR. VEGH:  You said you would be about half an hour, right?  So I think, you could probably take us to lunch with your questions.  


MR. DINGWALL:  I will take you to the time of lunch with my questions, but I can't undertake certainly on the current intervenor funding levels, to take anyone else to lunch.  


MR. VEGH:  Is that a question?  


QUESTIONED BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  Having gained the benefit of some of the other parties' questions in advance, I'm going to move around to various areas.  If there are any questions from the people I'm asking questions to seeking specificity as to what I might be referring to, please feel free.  There will be some jumping around.  


This morning there was a discussion, very briefly, of the notion of load-serving entities.  Now, I'm trying to understand where load-serving entities will come up in context of the ongoing processes before the Board involving the OPA.  


Is it the intention, Mr. Lyle, that load-serving entities will be addressed as part of the IPSP application?  


MR. LYLE:  Well, I think you may recall that Mr. Vegh and I had an exchange with respect to that issue.  What I indicated is that under the regulation we're required, in developing our IPSP, to identify and develop innovative strategies to encourage and facilitate competitive market-based responses.  So it may be that the integrated power system plan may contain information with respect to load-serving entities.  


In addition, however, as the evidence points out, if the load-serving entity concept was to be fully implemented to serve RPP customers, there would be need to be some changes to existing OEB codes, and those changes might come about as a result of a separate process before the Board.  


I indicated to Mr. Vegh that I didn't know at this time whether it's possible that that load-serving entity-specific proceeding might come before the IPSP is filed or after the IPSP is filed.  


MR. DINGWALL:  So we're identifying chickens and eggs, but we're not making a decision as to which is coming first at this point. 


MR. LYLE:  I don't know at this point which would come first.  


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Is the OPA considering linking the notion of load-serving entities with any of its other functions, such as conservation?  


MR. LYLE:  Maybe you could clarify that a little, as to what you're driving at.  


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, the use of a load-serving entity would, effectively, be the devolution, potentially, for a service territory or somewhere geographical, of part of the OPA's function with respect to the regulated price plan.  Is the OPA considering any proposals to devolve of any of its other functions upon other market participants?  


MR. LYLE:  I'm not sure what you mean by devolve.  Certainly, the major tool that the OPA possesses with respect to conservation initiatives is the ability to enter into procurement contracts to procure demand management and conservation.  So the delivery agent for the projects that the conservation bureau is going to develop and design is not, in general, going to be the OPA.  


MR. DINGWALL:  Looking at conservation again and starting to move into a little bit more detail, is the OPA looking at the potential emission reductions that might result from its conservation programs, and taking an economic approach to gaining or identifying and then gaining the value of those reductions in order to offset the cost of the programs?  


MR. ALMASSI:  We have not, as yet, developed the framework for taking emissions into account, but it is part of the discussion, part of the work -- is part of the plan, development of the plan for CDM.  And this issue will be looked at in 2006 closely.  


MR. DINGWALL:  So is it the OPA's intention, then, to find a way to gain the value of the emission credits?  


MR. ALMASSI:  I am not, at this point, clear as to what sort of approach and plan will take.  What I can say is that we have raised this issue, and we intend to pursue it in order to identify the potential as to what approach we should take.  


MR. DINGWALL:  So is that going to be one of the items you will be seeking stakeholder involvement and response on?  


MR. ALMASSI:  It has not been -- as of now, it has not been planned as far as a stakeholdering process is concerned for this issue.  


MR. DINGWALL:  Is it going to be?  

     MR. ALMASSI:  I'm afraid I have to repeat; at this point we don't have any plans, as such.  


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, in the world of conservation and demand management, which has also gone by the name of demand management in the past, there are a number of compensatory mechanisms that other market participants, such as local distribution companies, have made use of in the past give themselves an incentive to participate in these programs.  These include lost revenue adjustment mechanisms, shared‑savings mechanisms.  I'm certain there are other ones out there, that creatures tend to have different names in different places.


Is the OPA going to be seeking to recover any form of the incentive for its involvement in any of these activities?


MR. ALMASSI:  Not at this point.


MR. LYLE:  I'm not quite sure I followed the question, Mr. Dingwall.  I mean, the reason why utilities seek such mechanisms is because their profitability is partly based on the size of the volumes of load or throughput that they experience, and so that provides a disincentive of doing conservation.  Obviously, the OPA itself doesn't have any such issue until we have a mandate to do conservation.


MR. DINGWALL:  I'm going to ask you to, in your next responses, Mr. Lyle, to speak up a bit.


MR. LYLE:  I'm sorry.


MR. DINGWALL:  I can hear you.  I'm not sure whether the others in the room can.  It might be my advanced age.  


MS. DEJULIO:  I think your microphone is not working.


MR. DINGWALL:  What that brings me to, then, Mr. Lyle, is it not the functional and statutory motivation and purpose for the OPA to actually achieve and espouse a culture of conservation?


MR. LYLE:  Yes, it is.


MR. DINGWALL:  So while there is no financial incentive for the OPA to promote conservation, it is effectively your mandate, is it not?


MR. LYLE:  Absolutely.


MR. DINGWALL:  This leads me to a question of how the OPA is - and I know there was an initial effort at that this morning - coordinating its efforts with local distribution companies.


Can you give me more of an indication of how that might work, taking an example, please?


MR. ALMASSI:  Certainly.  Probably the best example would be low‑income program, the upcoming program.  As you know, once again I repeat, we have been in operation five months.  We cannot provide you with an existing program, as such, but the program under way is low‑income, and low income, by definition, is going to be inclusive of local distribution utilities' activities and existing programs and initiatives.


So as I mentioned earlier this morning, we have opened discussion.  We are aware of which LDCs have such initiatives.  We are in negotiation with them.  They are aware of our mandate to introduce a province-wide low‑income program.  We are working with Social Housing Services Corporation, which is, in turn, in touch with a variety of LDCs and their social housing programs.  And, as we speak, we are in the process of negotiations and a series of meetings bringing other parties also to the table, such as NRCan, such as CMHC, and they are, in turn, in touch and are working already with the LDCs.  And we planned in the first quarter of 2006 to bring all of these efforts together in order to have -- to be able to introduce province-wide, low‑income program that would be inclusive of all other efforts, avoiding duplications and also working closely.  Is that the type of example you were seeking?


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, what I think that does is it raises some of the questions that would come out from a program like that, so let me ask you that.  Just in context of the example you have been good enough to give to us, would you agree with me that the motivation of an LDC in a program aimed at conservation is offset -- or, rather, is driven by the incentive they have to compensate them for the lost revenue which results in the lost load?  Would you agree with that statement?


MR. ALMASSI:  I will have to say it depends.  I will refer -- I will break the rules here.  I will refer to my own personal experience with LDCs.


There are some LDCs that I've spoken with and they see conservation and CDM as a social responsibility, as a part their business and what they do.  They see it as a part of their marketing and the core business.


Some other ones, I agree with you, they see the lost revenue and other aspects as an impediment.  So I would say a sweeping statement would not be what I would adhere to.  It depends.


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, for the test year, we've got what looks like a fairly conservative budget for some of these activities, if they're intended to go province wide.


MR. LYLE:  Keep in mind, Mr. Dingwall, what I mentioned earlier in my presentation.  There is an operating budget for the conservation bureau which is subject to review in this proceeding.  There are also initiatives that we've discussed that will be under way through the conservation bureau, including those initiatives that are under way as a result of directives received from the Minister of Energy.


So the OPA will be entering into procurement contracts as part of those initiatives, and its payments under those procurement contracts will be passed through to ratepayers in Ontario as charges, and that aspect is not subject to review in this proceeding.


MR. DINGWALL:  Is it the intention of those programs to replace programs that are currently in place with individual LDCs?


MR. ALMASSI:  The answer, clearly, is no.  The intention and the plan is, to the extent possible, to make those programs inclusive in the province‑wide program.


The previous question that you asked, in terms of motivation, I would like to underline that in a province‑wide program, at this point in time, participation is voluntary.


So the LDCs and their participation in the province‑wide program will be entirely on a voluntary basis.


MR. DINGWALL:  If you're in a program with an LDC who is participating and the LDC also has its own program along a similar line, how are you going to identify which entity generated the savings and whether or not that entity is entitled to compensation?  


You mentioned the OPA is not entitled to compensation.  In fact, its motivation is to reduce demand without compensation.


MR. ALMASSI:  I understand the question.  The attribution -- I believe, you're referring to attribution issue; is that correct?


MR. DINGWALL:  That's correct.


MR. ALMASSI:  Conservation bureau does not determine attribution at this point and does not assess other programs on those bases.


So we -- at this point in time, as you mentioned correctly, we are not a stakeholder in terms of attribution, and we hope that every participant would be credited with the full credit that they deserve, in terms of attribution for their efforts, and our ‑‑ as a part of our programs or as a separate effort.


MR. DINGWALL:  Ms. Poon, you look like you have something to add.


MS. POON:  The only thing is in LDCs that carry out an LRAM or SSM, there is generally an audit process, and a thorough audit process, whereby it would be clear that, from a technical perspective, they would be frankly aware of the -- that there was a joint effort embedded going forward, and it would be really the issue for the LDC, in its audit process, to ensure that it gets its benefits and that the -- all intervenors and all parties participating in that process ensure that the component that is associated with the OPA is associated with OPA and that the LDC is basically remunerated for its efforts and not someone else's, just as a free rider issue.


MR. DINGWALL:  Does the OPA intend on involving itself in the audit processes?


MS. POON:  I don't see why we should.


MR. ALMASSI:  I concur.  That is not the plan 


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, the notion of conservation seems to be one that would have some effect of being price responsive.  To what extent is the OPA going to be looking at the relation between conservation and smooth prices?  


MR. ALMASSI:  The conservation bureau and its mandate are not, technically speaking, concerned with the prices.  And I will defer the second part of your question, perhaps, to Mr. Lyle.  


MR. LYLE:  I'm not quite sure that I understood the question, so maybe you could repeat the question, Mr. Dingwall.  


MR. DINGWALL:  Certainly.  It seems to me that there is a behavioural aspect of conservation which is related to having some degree of price sensitivity and price reaction.  Given the point of the OPA's mandate is to smooth pricing, are you going to be looking at whether or not that has an effect on conservation, the smoothing of pricing?  


MR. LYLE:  By which you mean that by smoothing pricing you are reducing the incentive for conservation?  


MR. DINGWALL:  Reducing price visibility.  If there is an increase in prices and customers don't have the ability to react.  


MR. LYLE:  Well, I mean, I guess I would approach that in two ways.  One way is to push it over to our friends at the OEB by saying that it is in the statute that it is a responsibility for the OEB to establish the RPP prices.  I understand, with the introduction of smart-metering, there is the desire to set prices, including RPP prices, that can vary from peak and off-peak periods.  


Does that respond to your question?  But that is really not within the mandate of the OPA.  


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, this morning there was a discussion of what costs - that must be the lunch bell – are not within the scope of this proceeding, and you mentioned a couple of different categories.  I had just a question of interpretation.  Perhaps, Mr. Lyle, you could address this.  


MR. LYLE:  I will try.  


MR. DINGWALL:  As I understand it, there is no OEB approval required for payments under procurement contracts arising from Ministers’ directives.  


MR. LYLE:  That's correct.  The one exception I would make to that is the directive we received on early movers, which expressly provides that we seek OEB approval.  But the principle in general is no, no OEB approval is required.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, I take it that what we've got put before us as a revenue requirement for the OPA is not the full budget of the OPA. 


MR. LYLE:  It's our complete operating budget.  There will be charges passed through to consumers related to our obligations under procurement contracts.  


MR. DINGWALL:  What happens if there is an amount under a procurement contract which results from a cost overrun, it is in excess of the approval of the procurement contract?  


MR. LYLE:  I'm not quite sure I'm following.  As I said, there is no approval of the procurement contract.  The procurement contracts will operate in accordance with their terms.  And the OPA will make payments to counterparty, or receive payments in some cases, for certain periods, in accordance with the terms of those contracts.  


MR. DINGWALL:  So in the event that there is a request for payment which is an excessive in terms of the contract, the OPA, then, is not in a position to make payment?  


MR. LYLE:  The OPA will manage the contracts and will make payments in accordance with the terms of the contracts.  


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, it would be naive for us to say that, in the world that we live, every contract comes in on time, on budget and without a hitch.  Certainly, with respect to certain refurbishments that have taken place in the province in the past, that has certainly been the experience. 


What is the process which the OPA would follow if, for example, the Bruce refurbishment were to take place beyond the pricing or timing considerations of the contract which the OPA is left with?  


MR. RAFFAELLE:  I go back to what Michael just said, and that the contracts -- we're dealing only with the terms of the contracts.  And specifically, in the Bruce, there are provisions with respect to cost overruns, certain ranges above expected cost, which party picks up, which percent of that cost.  


So if it's not in the terms of the contract, then it's up to the counterparty to be picking it up.  


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  


Dr. Higgin has covered off a number of my questions with respect to stakeholder budgets.  So given the timing and your answers, thank you very much, those are my questions.  


MR. RAFFAELLE:  Thank you.  


MR. VEGH:  Now, according to my canvass, I only had Mr. Matthews for Direct and Mr. Adams for Energy Probe who wanted to ask a couple of more questions on this part of the –-

MS. KWIK:  Excuse me, Mr. Vegh, I had several questions as well, for the Power Workers' Union. 


MR. VEGH:  How long will you be?  


MS. KWIK:  Three, four questions. 


MR. VEGH:  Three or four questions?


MS. KWIK:  I'm at the end.  So by the time you get to me, it may only be one question.  


MR. VEGH:  All right.  So why don't we -- do you want to go now?  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Mine are quick, George, if you want.  


MR. VEGH:  Pardon me?


MR. MATTHEWS:  My questions will be fairly quick, I think. 


MR. VEGH:  Why don't you go ahead with Mr. Matthews.  He’s only going to be a couple of minutes.  Then we will break for lunch and come back for the remainder of the questions for this panel, this part.  


QUESTIONED BY MR. MATTHEWS:


MR. MATTHEWS:  Thanks, George.  


I just have a couple of questions with regard to the process here.  First of all, the business plan that is filed in evidence, that's the plan that's been approved by the minister?  


MR. LYLE:  That's correct.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Do I take it, then, that the main purpose of this proceeding is to review the cost implications of that plan?  


MR. LYLE:  The main purpose is to review our expenditures and revenue requirements, and that is the approvals we're seeking from the Board.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  With respect to the plan, though?  


MR. LYLE:  The plan is what we used to form the basis of our budgeting process, yes.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Okay.  So let me ask the question a different way, then, Mr. Lyle.  


We're not here to talk about additions to or omissions from that plan, then.  We're here to talk about the appropriate costs to implement that plan; is that correct?  


MR. LYLE:  I'm not quite sure what you mean, additions to or omissions.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Well, is the plan itself within the scope of this proceeding?  


MR. LYLE:  Well, we are seeking a budget that contemplates that we're undertaking certain initiatives.  So in that sense, maybe I will turn it over to my lawyer – 


MR. CASS:  Strikes me you've raised an issue, Dave, that could be argued about as to whether the scope of this proceeding would entitle parties to say that the business plan should be something different.  I don't want to argue about it today, but I think it is a valid question that you have raised.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Okay.  Let's leave it at that.  I was looking for some clarity.  I thought this was going to be an easy question. 


MR. HIGGIN:  That same question was in play when the IESO's fees were up last year.  


MR. VEGH:  Yes.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  The other report that you mentioned, Mr. Lyle, was in regard to the mix.  I believe it is on advisory report to the Minister.  Will that be filed as part of this proceeding, the advisory report with respect to mix?


MR. LYLE:  Well, the advisory report is coming out tomorrow, and I think it is going to be available on our website, perhaps faster than we could actually file it for you.  So I mean we can file it, if you like.  It's not -- it's not purely relevant to the 2006 revenue requirement.  It is really work that was undertaken and completed by the OPA in 2005.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Okay.  I just wanted -- there were a couple of references to it today, I just wondered if it was going to form part of the evidentiary basis in this proceeding or not. 


MR. LYLE:  As I say, the next steps with the supply mix advice is, we have given our advice to the Minister and the Minister has the choice of adopting those recommendations and sending us back a supply-mix directive, or the Minister can send us back a supply-mix directive that departs from our recommendations, or alternatively the Minister also has the choice not to give us any supply-mix directive.  But whatever the Minister does in that regard will inform our development of the integrated power system plan.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Okay, thank you.  


Then one final question, which is maybe more simple than the other two.  The budget for compensation and benefits is about, I think $14.2 million.  


MR. LYLE:  Hmm-hmm.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  What is the complement that is assumed underlying that budget, the staff complement?  


MS. POON:  98. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  98?  Okay.  Thank you.  


Those are my questions.  


MR. VEGH:  Thanks.  Why don't we break for lunch and come back at 1:30 and carry on with this so we can get this thing done today.  


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:50 p.m.

‑‑‑ On resuming at 1:30 P.M.


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  I think everyone is back now, and I think the next person in line -- is it Energy Probe or Power Workers?


MR. ADAMS:  I don't care.


MR. VEGH:  Why don't you go ahead, Mr. Adams?


QUESTIONED BY MR. ADAMS:

MR. ADAMS:  My first question is just to understand what we're doing here, following up on the questions that Mr. Matthews put to the Panel.


In the hypothetical instance that the Board ordered a reduction in the budgets, would that ‑‑ or the proposed spending for 2006, is it the OPA's position that that is within the authority of the Board?  Is that what we're talking about here, the level of these budgets?


MR. CASS:  I think that is correct, Tom, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  Now, the applicant has filed its governance and structure bylaw as Exhibit A, tab 5, schedule 2, if you could turn to that, please.


MR. LYLE:  We have it.


MR. ADAMS:  Mr. Lyle, do I understand correctly that you're corporate secretary responsible for this document?


MR. LYLE:  I am corporate secretary, yes.  Most of this document predates my arrival at the OPA.


MR. ADAMS:  An updated version of this document dated November 1st has been filed with the supplementary materials recently filed.


MR. LYLE:  That's correct.  There were amendments, some minor amendments, made to this document.


MR. ADAMS:  If I can turn you to page 4 of 7, I just observed that section 3.5(3) and section 3.7, although the numbering sequence extends both above and beyond those two paragraphs, there are no paragraphs that correspond to those numbers that I just gave you, 3.5, part 3, and 3.7.  Is that deliberate, or is there something missing?


MR. LYLE:  I do see ‑‑ I just wanted to check with the earlier version.


MR. ADAMS:  Those two clauses that I have identified are indicated in the previous version?


MR. LYLE:  Hmm‑hmm.  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  They appear to be material clauses and I just wonder what happened to them.


MR. LYLE:  Yes.  What happened is, you're correct, those clauses were deleted, because the Board does not have the authority, of itself, to remove directives.  That authority is with the Minister.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.  Do I understand correctly that with respect ‑‑ that the CEO -- pursuant to section 3.2(a), the CEO does not necessarily need to be drawn from the membership of the Board itself?


MR. LYLE:  The way the statute works is that the CEO is automatically a member of the board of directors, 25.4(ii) states that:

"The Board of Directors shall be composed of the CEO and ten additional individuals appointed by the Minister."


MR. ADAMS:  Right.  How many directors do you have now?


MR. LYLE:  We have eight directors plus the chief executive officer at this point in time.


MR. ADAMS:  So you are two short?


MR. LYLE:  That's correct.


MR. ADAMS:  Any indication as to when the Board will have full complement?


MR. LYLE:  We have not received communication on that.


MR. ADAMS:  But is the procedure that is identified in this governance instruction bylaw actually, like, in working order now with respect to the board of directors identifying two candidates for each position and all of that, as specified here, or is there some other procedure that is in place now?


MR. LYLE:  At this point in time, it's clearly always within the power of the Minister to appoint whoever the Minister wishes to the Board.


At this point in time, for the initial appointments of the Board itself, the Minister has ‑‑ we have not been following this approach.


MR. ADAMS:  If you just look to the last paragraph of this document, I'm just a little confused on the timing.  It indicates that the document that we are reviewing right now ‑‑


MR. LYLE:  Hmm‑hmm.


MR. ADAMS:  ‑‑ was paused passed in January of 2005, and yet there is a date of November 2005 on the front of it.


MR. LYLE:  Yes, I can explain that, which is that the document was passed initially by the board of directors the 17th of March, 2005.


There then was a process whereby some amendments were brought forward to the board of directors, I believe, in August.  That was communicated to the Minister in early September, and the way the process works is the Minister has 60 days to disallow changes to the governance and structure bylaw.


So the amendments to the governance and structure bylaw did not in fact come into effect until November 1, 2005.  What you have is the document as amended.


MR. ADAMS:  So its effective date is November 1st?


MR. LYLE:  The effective date of the document as amended is November 1st.


MR. ADAMS:  Right, got it.  Thank you.  Now, on the substance of your application, in 2005, the OPA funded itself by taking customer funds that were held in trust by the IESO, 2006.  The account that's been drawn upon is retail contract settlement balance held by the provincial government.


Now, this is not the ordinary course at which I'm accustomed to seeing utilities fund their revenue requirement.


My question is:  When is the OPA going to implement orderly rates?


MR. LYLE:  Well, I probably disagree with some of the characterization of orderly utility rates in the question.


From the time that I joined the OPA, there was always the understanding in the organization that our fees were going to have to recover not just our operating budget, but also costs of government procurement processes that would be transferred to us under the authority of the statute, and that's the approximately $7 million that you see as part of our application, and also that our fees would have to recover payments that we would be making to retailers.


And at that time, certainly the anticipation was that that was the direction that the government would be heading, so that has always been our approach.  So it frankly came as a surprise to us when -- with the spike in HOEP, when we started to see that we were receiving dollars going in from the retailers.


We did not change our approach, but it did come as a surprise to us that the payments from retailers were so significant that they outweighed our revenue requirement.


In terms of answering your specific question as to when we would move to needing a fee, that will really depend on the balances that are in our deferral accounts when we come to our revenue requirement case for 2007.  That's assuming, of course, that we decide to take the same approach next year, if you take it in this case.  I'm not necessarily assuming that but –-

MR. ADAMS:  Is it possible you're just going to keep raiding deferral accounts to supply your revenue requirement?  


MR. LYLE:  Well, I wouldn't characterized it as –-


MR. ADAMS:  I'm stunned by that. 


MR. LYLE:  I wouldn’t characterize it as raiding deferral accounts.  As I said, we’re faced with the fact that we have this money flow into the organization and we have to do something with it.  In terms of the timelines around this, we're talking about retailer payments, and those relate back to the contracts built to attend.  So we're talking about -- by the end of 2007, we will not be receiving any more retailer payments or making any more payments to retailers.  


MR. ADAMS:  But you're going to have other settlement or other variance accounts. 


MR. LYLE:  Well, other variance accounts are, they 
are -- I think the RPP variance account is the one you're talking about.  And the RPP variance account is not the subject of this proceeding.  It's something that gets looked at by the OEB when it sets new RPP prices. 


MR. ADAMS:  Mr. Lyle, I was not speaking specifically of the RPP account.  It wasn't the RPP variance account that you raided in 2005, it was another agency's variance account.  


MR. LYLE:  Well, actually, it is not another agencies variance account.  The retailer payments you're talking –- 


MR. ADAMS:  I was referring to 2005.  


MR. LYLE:  Yes.  The IESO budget, I mean, that's something that was done by regulation, by the government.  The OPA had no say or control over that.  


MR. ADAMS:  This is not a cross-examination.  


MR. LYLE:  I'm glad to hear that.  


MR. ADAMS:  It's just on the record that we are supportive of the OPA moving to an orderly system of rates, and we're opposed to this business of raiding settlement accounts.  


MR. CASS:  Tom, we understand your position, but I don't think it is necessary for you to use words like "raiding" accounts, I don't think anybody has raided an account. 


MR. ADAMS:  Does the OPA have an opinion on whose property was the content of the retailer contract settlement balance?  


MR. LYLE:  Those were – 


MR. ADAMS:  Whose money that was?  


MR. VEGH:  Sorry, from a process perspective, Mr. Adams, we did want to -- this is an important issue.  I think we all recognize this is an important issue.  


How we set up the day was that the issue around the retail settlement account was going to be in a separate part.


MR. ADAMS:  I will get to that. 


MR. VEGH:  Effectively a part two.  So they were going to provide a presentation and we were going to ask some questions about that as well. 


MR. ADAMS:  I know.  We will get to the mechanics here, I'm just trying figure out where the revenue requirement is going to come from.  


MR. VEGH:  He's going to ask them anyway.  


MR. ADAMS:  I will move on.  


So another area I want to get your guidance on, the Ministry of Energy transferred a $3 million charge to you that -- associated with the negotiation of the refurbishment contract.  Can you give us details behind what is underneath that $3 million charge?


MR. RAFFAELLE:  No, we can't, because the Ministry did not provide the details to us.  There is nothing we can transfer to you. 


MR. ADAMS:  Just a blank invoice with the $3 million amount at the bottom?  


MR. RAFAELLE:  Correct.  


MR. LYLE:  I think the key issue for us is we don't see the relevance of that information to our proceeding.  We are required, by statute, to pay those amounts to the government.  We have no control over the level of those amounts, the level of the amounts that are invoiced to us by the government.  So we don't see how that is relevant to our 2006 proceeding, exactly how the government went about incurring those costs.


MR. ADAMS:  I just wanted to know what they were for.  I didn't ask how they were incurred.  I understand that they were incurred associated with the refurbishment contract.  


MR. LYLE:  That's the best of our knowledge, yes.  


MR. ADAMS:  But you don't know what is behind them, right, there is no public disclosure as to what we're paying for for that 3 million bucks. 


MR. LYLE:  I think if you're looking for public disclosure on that, you should speak to the Ministry Of Energy.  We just receive a bill and we pay the bill because we're obligated to do that by statute.  


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  I want to move into the area of staffing.  Just for the record, I'm following the line of questions that were pre-filed by Energy Probe a couple of days ago.  I don't think it is necessary to make an exhibit of this.  We were trying to follow the model of Board Staff for the assistance of the applicant.  


MR. LYLE:  We appreciate that, Mr. Adams.  


MR. ADAMS:  The staffing plan indicates that you intend to have a staff of 98 by year end.  Now, I've been trying to follow some of the statements that have been issued by people associated with this Ontario Power Authority with respect to the staffing, and I recollect that there was an original indication that the staff number, total staff complement was anticipated to be 65 members.  


Can you describe, just in general terms, what has taken us from 65 to 98, in terms of staff.  


MS. POON:  We're in the process of -- actually, those comments and the statements made by Jan Carr, the 65 requirement actually predates -- 


MR. ADAMS:  Excuse me, I can hardly hear.


MS. POON:  Sorry.  We’re undertaking to look into this question that has been posed to the OPA.  We can't frankly answer it on the stand, because the 65 staffing level predates probably everybody on this panel, and where that number even transpired from.  


MR. ADAMS:  Can you check that mike.  


MS. POON:  It doesn't work.  They told me.  Sorry.  I'm screaming. 


MR. ADAMS:  Don't talk into the mike.  Talk into a mike that works.  


MS. POON:  Did you hear my response?  Sorry.


MR. ADAMS:  Can you repeat the last part of that response.  


MS. POON:  We're undertaking to look into this response.  


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  


MS. WONG:  That will be Undertaking No. 4.  


UNDERTAKING NO. 4:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION ON THE 
CHANGE IN ESTIMITATED STAFF FROM 65 TO 98 PEOPLE 


MR. ADAMS:  Now, the 98 is a year-end figure.  I'm trying to calculate the average compensation.  I just want to know what the FTE equivalent for the year will be.  It won't be 98, it will be something less than 98, if I understand correctly.  Do you have an FTE equivalent, annualized?  


MS. POON:  I don't think we've done that type of calculation.  If you're looking for an average it would be the average between the two numbers, that being the 98 at year end with the year end at the -– the average provided in 2005 year end, which is an average.  


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  


MS. POON:  But if I actually turn you to Exhibit D2, tab 1, schedule -– sorry, Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 1, page 11, you will see the ramp up.  


MR. ADAMS:  I calculate the average compensation at approximately $158,000 per year.  Do you take exception to that figure or is that reasonably accurate?  


MS. POON:  It is not, given the fact that embedded in our compensation dollars are amounts associated with our -- amounts associated specifically to deal with the outcome of the Hay study.  


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.


MS. POON:  So there is an incentive plan mechanism in there that may or may not be disposed of, depending on the results of that study.  


MR. ADAMS:  Where do we find the Hay study?  


MR. LYLE:  The Hay study is referenced in Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 5.  


MR. ADAMS:  Sorry, can you lead me to it?  


MS. POON:  It's on page 11 of Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 5.


MR. LYLE:  And it's discussed in paragraphs 39 through 42.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Do we have the terms of reference for that study in evidence?


MS. POON:  No, we do not.


MR. ADAMS:  Can I get an undertaking, please?


MS. POON:  Sure.


MR. LYLE:  We will undertake, subject to enquiring as to confidentiality of that information.


MR. ADAMS:  Confidentiality with the description of the study?


MR. LYLE:  I don't know if there is information in that Hay study, provided that they may object to providing, but we will ascertain that.


MS. WONG:  Undertaking No. 5, terms of reference for Hay study.


UNDERTAKING NO. 5:  TO PROVIDE THE TERMS OF REFERENCE 
FOR HAY STUDY

MR. ADAMS:  If you do object to disclosing the terms of reference for the study, are you going to provide us with an explanation as to the basis for that objection?


MR. LYLE:  Absolutely.


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  So what is the average compensation at OPA, then?  What are you anticipating for 2006?


MR. LYLE:  By compensation, you mean total salary, benefits?


MR. ADAMS:  Salaries, benefits and overtime.


MS. POON:  I will have to undertake to do that.  It's just I don't have that readily at hand.


MS. WONG:  Undertaking No. 6.


UNDERTAKING NO. 6:  TO PROVIDE AVERAGE SALARY, 
BENEFITS AND OVERTIME AT OPA

MR. ADAMS:  We can't just go to your expected payroll, divided by the midpoint of your expected employee numbers?


MS. POON:  I mean, it is a very good guide.  I mean, it's a rough guide.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.


MS. POON:  That's all I'm saying.  If that's sufficient, that's sufficient.  I mean...

     MR. ADAMS:  Well, if there is any material ‑- why don't we leave it on the record this way:  If there is any material departure between my calculation of approximately $158,000 per employee, you will inform us?


MS. POON:  Okay.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, the OPA has negotiated a number of employment agreements.  It has a staff that is approaching 82 people now, something like that.


What are the pension provisions that are contained -- what's the strategy underlying the pension provisions contained in those employment agreements?


MS. POON:  All FTs within the OPA are members of the Ontario Pension Board, so they're under the public sector pension plan.


MR. ADAMS:  And is there ‑‑ are there ‑‑ in the employment agreements, as these employees are entering the system, if I understand correctly, there has to be some negotiated settlement as to the years of service?


MS. POON:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?


MR. ADAMS:  Well, in these pension plans, if I understand correctly, there has to be some kind of decision with respect to years of service of the entry position of the employee coming into the plan.  Is that a negotiated item, or is that something that is mechanically derived?


MR. LYLE:  I think, though, that is addressed under the terms of the pension plan.  There is ‑‑ my own example, I was a member of that same pension plan before as an OEB employee, so there was no change in my status.


I think in the case of perhaps other employees, there is a need to -- in some cases, there is an option of transferring pension entitlement from the previous plan into the new plan, but I can't claim to be an expert in this area.  


 MR. ADAMS:  When you got employees that come over from, say, IESO, what happens to their pension provisions?


MR. RAFFAELLE:  I was ‑‑


MR. LYLE:  I don't know the answer to that.


MS. POON:  We can undertake to find out.


MR. LYLE:  Just so we're clear, Mr. Adams, what precisely is it, the information that you are looking for?


MR. ADAMS:  I'm going to use the example of employees that are coming over to the OPA from the IESO.  I wanted to understand how the pension -- what the pension implications are of that transfer.


MR. LYLE:  We will undertake to give you a response to that.


My understanding is that the IESO plan is more generous than the plan that we are a member of, and therefore, I think the general approach is that most employees ‑‑ I'm sorry, I think the general approach for most employees would be to not transfer the pension entitlement, because I believe the IESO plan is more generous than the plan that we are a member of, but we will try to provide you with more details of that.


MS. WONG:  Undertaking No. 7.


UNDERTAKING NO. 7:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION REGARDING 
PENSION PLAN IMPLICATION IN TRANSFER OF EMPLOYEE FROM 
IESO TO OPA

MR. ADAMS:  I'm just looking for some kind of high-level description of how this works.  It doesn't need to be terribly detailed, but I just wasn't able to see it in the pre-filed material.


Is there an incentive plan in place now?


MR. LYLE:  There is no general incentive plan currently.  For the CEO and the vice presidents, they have -- are entitled to performance bonus of -- I believe it is up to 15 percent, but there is no current plan for other OPA employees.


MR. ADAMS:  Do we know what the criteria are for that 15 percent, a determination on that?


MR. LYLE:  I think that is still under development.


MR. ADAMS:  You don't have criteria for this?


MR. LYLE:  As I say, there has been no decisions made to pay any bonuses, and so I think there is still work that needs to get done on determining how one would establish bonus payments to the CEO and the VPs.


MR. ADAMS:  Will you be filing information on this incentive plan in your next application?


MR. LYLE:  Certainly we will, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  You've got a new office.  How long is your lease?


MR. LYLE:  Ten years.


MR. ADAMS:  Renewable?


MR. LYLE:  I would have to check specifically to determine if there is provision for that.  I could undertake that.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes, please.


MS. WONG:  Number 8, Undertaking No. 8.


UNDERTAKING NO. 8:  TO PROVIDE TERMS OF OPA OFFICE 
LEASE

MR. ADAMS:  Just with regard to C&DM, the evidence discusses the issue of C&DM tracking in a couple of places.  One reference to C&DM tracking indicates that the purpose is through surveys ‑‑ I'm sorry:

"Through surveys, a base line will be developed for various markets and then used to track the impact of various conservation activities." 


However, in the business plan, reference to C&DM tracking seems to be somewhat different:



"In addition, the base line will be developed for 

various markets and publics as to their views on 


conservation and to track the impact of various 


conservation activities.  The CECO will also 


gather information and experience from other 


programs that will assist in its social marketing 

efforts.”  


Can you explain what the C&DM baseline tracking is.  


MR. ALMASSI:  Perhaps, maybe I could clarify some of the primary objectives of the conservation bureau and just mention two of them.  


Our strategic objectives include, one, to promote conservation culture, and the other primary objective is to introduce, if you will, province-wide conservation programs with very specific kilowatt and kilowatt-hour targets.  


The base-lining for the conservation culture, as outlined in your question, may have to be more subjective, from a social point of view, social marketing point of view, and that's the spirit in which it has been mentioned here.  The harder, more measurable by kilowatt and kilowatt hours, would refer to the province-wide programs.  


So we have to -- we feel that we have to have base-lining and a measurement on both fronts.  The first one would include surveys, focus groups, et cetera, in order to determine some baseline.  The other one would be hard core measurement through metres, et cetera.  


MR. ADAMS:  I will move on.  


I should have asked this earlier when we were discussing the revenue requirement and how you were obtaining your revenue requirement.  But your business plan proposes implementing, at some point, we don't know the date, a volumetric-based rate.  I'm wondering what the justification is for a volumetric rate determination.  


MR. LYLE:  Well, I have the advantage of having your printed question, and you say that the costs of the OPA do not appear entirely to –-

MR. ADAMS:  I’m sorry, we lost the mike again. 


MR. LYLE:  I’m sorry.  I will try to speak more clearly into the microphone.  


I had the benefit of your full printed question, Mr. Adams.  And you indicate there that the costs of the OPA do not appear entirely to correlate to energy delivered and, therefore, you're proposing a per-customer charge.  


I guess we need a little bit of clarification.  Are you talking about Defasco pays $30 and Mr. Jones pays 

$30?  Is that what you mean by a per-customer charge?  


MR. ADAMS:  It could be on a rate-base level.  Yes.  I mean it, could be applied against LDCs, if LDCs are your customers.  Who are your customers?  


MR. LYLE:  We provide services that are to benefit all consumers in Ontario.  


MR. ADAMS:  Do you accept my proposition that your costs don't go up or down with respect to whether or not the volume of sales in the market go up or down?  


MR. LYLE:  To the extent that we are engaging in more procurement activities, either on the supply side or the demand side, obviously those activities can affect the level of our operating budget, and that can affect how much volumes are being transacted in the marketplace and at what prices.  So I don't think I completely accept your premise.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Well, let's take the case where C&DM is actually successful in reducing the volume of sales in the market.  


MR. LYLE:  Mm-hmm.


MR. ADAMS:  You would see that automatically translating into a higher rate, volumetric rate; is that fair?  


MR. LYLE:  I think when we went to reset our fee in our subsequent case, we would have to -- we would have to set our fee based on a reasonable projection of what we anticipated volumes to be in the subsequent year.  So if the projection is that volumes are going down, then we would set it on that basis.  


MR. ADAMS:  Just a last series of questions, I think.  


I wonder if I can turn you to Exhibit B, 2, schedule 2, page 4.  You have got a list of the projects that were successful under the government's 2,500-megawatt RFP.  The first two items, Greenfield Energy Centre and St. Claire, have identified, corporate investors behind them, but it is not clear who is behind the Greenfield South project.


MR. RAFAELLE:  Eastern Power.  


MR. ADAMS:  It is only Eastern Power?


MR. RAFFAELLE:  Yes. 


MR. ADAMS:  No partners?  


MR. RAFFAELLE:  Not that I am aware of, no.  


MR. ADAMS:  Now, Eastern was the party, if I understand correctly, that was behind the Greenfield North project. 


MR. RAFFAELLE:  That's correct.  


MR. ADAMS:  That project was cancelled in August of 2005?  


MR. RAFFAELLE:  It was mutually terminated.  


MR. ADAMS:  Were there any compensation payments paid by Eastern?


MR. RAFFAELLE:  The supplier agreed to reimburse the OPA for certain costs, yes.  


MR. ADAMS:  Those costs were an offset to your expenses in 2005, or were they in a variance account someplace?  Where did those costs go?  


MR. LYLE:  The OPA incurred certain costs related to that matter.  And as Mr. Raffaelle indicated certain costs were covered off by the project proponent in that particular case, as part of our discussions on mutually terminating that contract.  


MR. ADAMS:  Was that payment subject to some kind of formulaic calculation or was that a negotiated settlement?

MR. LYLE:  It's a negotiated settlement, and unfortunately I can't really get into any further details because those negotiations and the results of those negotiations are confidential.  


MR. ADAMS:  So that the sum of money is confidential.


MR. LYLE:  Yes, it is.  


MR. ADAMS:  On what basis?  


MR. LYLE:  On the basis that the parties mutually agreed to keep that sum of money confidential.  


MR. ADAMS:  I'm troubled by that answer.  You're a regulated utility.  


MR. LYLE:  We are an organization that is involved in commercially-sensitive negotiations and, therefore, in order to engage in those negotiations we have to be willing to agree to keep certain information of the parties we deal with confidential.  


MR. CASS:  Tom, also I think we're here to talk about 2006, and I don't think anybody has said anything about this to suggest it has 2006 implications.  


MR. ADAMS:  Well, we haven't established that yet.  That's not evidence.  If your witnesses are prepared to attest to that, that would help. 


MR. LYLE:  I'm sorry.  I don't believe this has 2006 implications.  


MR. ADAMS:  Was there any impact on the Greenfield South project arising from the collapse of the Greenfield North project?


MR. RAFFAELLE:  The issue was solely around Greenfield North.  The agreement to mutually terminate Greenfield North has absolutely no bearing on Greenfield South.  


MR. ADAMS:  It looks like Calpine is about to collapse.  Is that going to have any impact on Greenfield Energy Centre?  

MR. RAFFAELLE:  That's speculative.  I don't really think I could answer that.


MR. ADAMS:  There is a troubling issue here.  We've got one project collapsed.  Another one is under a question mark with regard to one of its investors.  I'm just wondering if there is any learning that the -- that is going on here with respect to financial provisions underneath the parties that are successful through these RFP processes.


MR. RAFFAELLE:  Just a couple of points.  First point of clarification:  The Greenfield North contract did not collapse, it was mutually terminated.


As far as other facilities and issues, the CES contracts, the RES contracts and the Bruce contract, for that matter, were entered into by the province, not by the OPA.


MR. LYLE:  Well, they were ‑‑ we were directed to enter into them by the province.  The procurement processes were -- and the negotiations were run completely by the province.


MR. RAFFAELLE:  And we do have learnings from each development, between developments, even at the Ministry.  There were learnings from the first to the second set, and those are all carried forward to the future procurements.


MR. ADAMS:  Do you have in‑service dates for each of these five projects, current?


MR. RAFFAELLE:  I have what are the commercial operation date milestones listed in the contracts.


MR. ADAMS:  I know that, but do you have an in‑service date outlook for these projects?


MR. RAFFAELLE:  No, I don't.


MR. ADAMS:  Could you undertake to provide one, an update as to what your current expectations are?


MR. LYLE:  We can do our best.  I mean, obviously a lot of it is all subjective to a number of circumstances that are outside our control, including the proceeding before this Board.


MR. ADAMS:  I'm sorry, Mr. Lyle, I'm having ‑‑


MR. LYLE:  I'm sorry, I'll try to speak more directly into the microphone.


MR. ADAMS:  I don't think that microphone is working, so speaking into it doesn't help us.


MR. LYLE:  We're losing more microphone as we go along.  I will try to project.  We will do our best.  But keep in mind that some of our projections are also speculative, because, as you know, for instance, with the Calpine-Mitsui plant, there is a proceeding ongoing before the OEB that relates to that project, as well.


MR. ADAMS:  All I'm asking for is your best current information.


MR. LYLE:  We will make our best efforts.


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  Do we have an undertaking number?


MR. VEGH:  That is Undertaking No. 10.


MR. CASS:  I have nine.


MR. VEGH:  Sorry.  Elaine was ahead of me.  That is Undertaking No. 9.


UNDERTAKING NO. 9:  TO PROVIDE IN‑SERVICE DATES FOR 
FIVE PROJECTS

MR. ADAMS:  Now, my reading of the Bruce refurbishment agreement is that the OPA is now ‑‑ has what might be described as regulatory authority.  Maybe I'm using the wrong term.  That's a term that will make lawyers go crazy, but it has some kind of commercial authority, subject to these agreements, whereby aspects of the costs of Bruce Power, including fuel costs and operating costs, are ‑‑ affect the ultimate price paid to Bruce Power.  There are flow-through arrangements with respect to fuel costs and a claw‑back agreement with respect to operating costs.


Now, in addition, with respect to capital costs and potential overruns, the OPA has authority, pursuant to the three levels of force majeure clauses that are contained within those agreements, that may have an effect on the base-price adjustment; that is, the price paid to Bruce Power prior to the fuel adjustment clauses.


So my question is:  How is this authority going to be exercised?  I take it that authority is being exercised right now; is that correct, first of all?


MR. RAFFAELLE:  Yes.  Let me just try to address all of that.  First of all, just to go back to your first introductory sentence, the OPA does not consider itself to have regulatory authority over aspects of the Bruce Power agreement.  We're just a counterparty to the refurbishment agreement.  That said, we do have certain rights and obligations under the agreement.  The OPA has the right to review the fuel strategy for the Bruce because it is a flow-through, and it also has the right to participate in weekly management meetings and monitor progress on refurbishment work.  To that end, on November 21, the OPA issued an RFP for field procurement services and technical support services.  The RFP closed on December 2nd, and we have since elected a technical service provider.  We have yet to make a decision on the fuel service provider, but we expect that later this week or early next week.  And beyond that, we have -- beyond the external service providers, we have dedicated internal staff resources, as well, to this project.


MR. ADAMS:  Where within the organization do those staff resources reside?


MR. RAFFAELLE:  They reside in generation development contract management group.


MR. ADAMS:  Can you take me back to your slide 6?


MR. RAFFAELLE:  Slide 6, in which?


MR. LYLE:  The presentation from this morning?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. RAFFAELLE:  If you look at the bottom of the org. chart, the second of the five, “Vice-president Generation Development, Paul Bradley,” it falls into that group in a sub-group called contract management.


MR. ADAMS:  This group has the resources now to be able to judge the adequacy, or otherwise, of the Bruce "A" operating costs?


MR. RAFFAELLE:  As I mentioned, we have an RFP that just closed and we are acquiring the services to do exactly that through the RFP, plus we do have some internal ‑‑ we are dedicating some internal resource time to that.


MR. ADAMS:  Do we have a breakout as to the costs associated with those functions, both for the external and internal resources?


MR. RAFFAELLE:  No, and one of the reasons would be we haven't finished deciding on the fuel procurement service.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.  But you do have ‑‑ you have a plan for 2006 with regard to the internal resources?


MR. RAFFAELLE:  Yes, we do.


MR. ADAMS:  What are those?  What's that plan?


MR. RAFFAELLE:  I don't know the portion that is Bruce specific.  If you're referring to the compensation to existing staff, is that what you're referring to?


MR. ADAMS:  Sure.  The number of bodies and ‑‑


MR. RAFFAELLE:  Less than one.


MR. ADAMS:  Less than one.


Now, there is an affiliate transaction aspect to this Bruce agreement, where Bruce Power operates as an integrated operation.  Bruce "B" is an unregulated operation.  Bruce "A" is subject to the contract provisions with all of these flow-through agreements.


What powers does the OPA have to supervise the affiliate transactions between these regulated and unregulated operations?


MR. RAFFAELLE:  By the terms of the contract, there's auditing provisions that the OPA can take advantage of to check issues like that and like the refurbishment costs, et cetera. 


And to that end, we have retained an auditor to assist in developing a framework for ongoing auditing at the Bruce or ongoing auditing of this contract at the Bruce.


MR. ADAMS:  Who is the auditor?


MR. RAFFAELLE:  It's Jim Cairncross.

MR. ADAMS:  What are his qualifications?


MR. RAFFAELLE:  I don't have his CV with me, but I can undertake to get a list of qualifications.


MR. ADAMS:  Please.


MS. WONG:  That is Undertaking No. 10.


UNDERTAKING NO. 10:  TO PROVIDE LIST OF QUALIFICATIONS 
FOR JIM CAIRNCROSS

MR. ADAMS:  One final area of questioning surrounding this annoying issue of confidentiality.


Members of this panel may not be as alert to this issue as their counsel is with respect to the sensitivity of this issue for this Board in recent proceedings.  But the whole issue of utilities engaging in significant business operations that are not transparent to the regulator is one that's been difficult before.  


Is there some kind of a regulatory strategy that -- or some comments on regulatory strategy that the panellists might be willing to comment on that would facilitate access by this process in future to information as to the underlying basis for the claims, so that there is some reasonable standard of confidentiality -- or so that the utility can function effectively, but there is some reasonable standard of transparency.  I'm just looking for some general comments on how we're going to live through this relationship in the decades that stretch out in front of us.  


MR. LYLE:  That's a pretty open question.  It is certainly not our -- we're a public institution, and we recognize that, and certainly we try to be as transparent as possible. 


MR. ADAMS:  I think you have lost your mike again, Mr. Lyle. 


MR. LYLE:  I still lost my mike, so I’ll forget about talking into it. 


We're a public institution, we realize that.  We're trying to as transparent as possible in this proceeding.  By the same token, you do have to understand that we've been given a mandate to manage contracts and also procure contracts which inevitably engage us in confidential, commercially-sensitive negotiations.  It's not so much our information as third party information.  


And so I don't know how to strike that balance exactly.  Maybe you can help us understand a little more about what you think you need for a proper review of our case. 


MR. ADAMS:  Let me give you some specifics, then, so we're not speaking in hypotheticals.  


MR. LYLE:  Okay.


MR. ADAMS:  The old Ontario Hydro, of which you're a successor –-


MR. LYLE:  We're not actually a successor to Ontario Hydro. 


MR. ADAMS:  You have almost identical functions. 


MR. LYLE:  I'm talking with my lawyer hat on, Tom.  We’re not legally a successor to Ontario Hydro.  But you’re right we are --  

     MR. ADAMS:  At a business level.  The way that -- your authorities closely correspond, I suggest, to those that were identified under the previous regime.  


But the old Ontario Hydro entered into, for example, secret deals with a bunch of industrial customers for rate discounts.  They were never subject to public disclosure.  Are you going to do anything like that?  


MR. LYLE:  We have a mandate to run procurement processes.  The processes that we follow will ultimately have to be approved by this Board, along with them approving our integrated power system plan.  Inevitably, though, some of the details of those contracts that are entered into are likely to not be public.  


MR. ADAMS:  But with regard to the sales side, you're not going to be offering any cushy contracts to the likes of Defasco and all of those guys that cashed in under the old Ontario Hydro, are you?


MR. LYLE:  I'm not aware of any plans like that.  


MR. ADAMS:  The IESO faces similar situations with regard to confidentiality of information.  There are detailed market rules.  They're subject to the Market Rules Procedures with respect to the disclosure or otherwise of certain classes of information.  There's a categorization as to what information belongs in which boxes with the applicable confidentiality regime.  There are different levels of this kind of thing.  


Do you anticipate anything like that confidentiality catalogue and the associated processes that the IESO uses?  


MR. LYLE:  Well, they are slightly different circumstances.  Obviously, the IESO, being a system operator, the information that they have and the legal requirements that they are under are slightly different than us as a counter party to contracts.  But it's an interesting suggestion and we will think about it.  


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  


MS. KWIK:  Thank you.  


QUESTIONED BY MS. KWIK:  

MS. KWIK:  In the OPA business plan, which was filed as Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, there is a description of what is included in the business plan.  And it’s stated that strategic objectives are explained in terms of its strategic context, the various actions the OPA will take to achieve the objectives, and the performance measures against which each objective can be assessed.  


Then in the business plan for each strategic objective there is a section with the heading of "you will see that we have succeeded in meeting this objective when" then there are points given.  I'm assuming that these points are the performance measures?  


MS. POON:  That's correct.  


MS. KWIK:  And these performance measures, then, are qualitative rather than quantitative measures for 2006.  


MS. POON:  They are what they are.  


MS. KWIK:  Those are the performance measures that are being referred to, I assume, right. 


MS. POON:  That's correct.  


MS. KWIK:  Right.  Okay.  And this is, like, a one-year business plan, because everything is very new and you still have to learn all about what it is you're supposed to be doing.  So given that learning opportunity, then, are you going to be developing quantitative performance indicators with various functions for your next business plan, which will be a three-year business plan?  


MS. POON:  Our next business plan is a three-year business plan.  I mean, the performance measures will be a function of what you can, in fact, quantitatively measure in regards specifically to what the initiatives in which we're going to carry out.  To the extent it is possible and realistic, I assume that we will attempt to do so.  


MS. KWIK:  Okay, that's good.  Thank you.  


Then on CDM, there were some questions earlier.  Folks tried to understand your relationship with the LDCs.  My question is, is there going to be some CDM programs that you will introduce that will be programs for the retailers to carry out rather than LDCs?  Am I right?  It's possible there will be programs that –-


MR. ALMASSI:  Potentially it is possible. 


MS. KWIK:  Yes, right.  Will your relationship with the LDCs -- will it be such that they will be informed on such programs so that they can take into account the impacts on their load forecasts, or, as mentioned earlier, in the calculation of the LRAM?  


MR. ALMASSI:  It will be –-


MS. KWIK:  The concern here is that –- 


MR. ALMASSI:  My understanding, we will be quite transparent in terms of the information flow to the LDCs about any initiative that we develop.  And I mean that not as a figure of speech.  We would like to work with them.  We like to know what they're doing, and we will let them know what we are doing.  


As to how that information is going to be used, that would be up to the LDCs.  


MS. KWIK:  Fine.  Right.  That's good to hear that they will have the information, though.  


Lastly, I do have to ask, in the OPA's guiding principle articulated in the business plan, it says:

“The Ontario Power Authority engages the stakeholders, including community leaders, the public, customers, associations, transmission and local distribution companies, generators and investors.”  


I'm sitting here and I'm representing the Power Workers' Union, who represent workers in the energy industry.  So I need to ask you whether the OPA sees the workers in the energy industry, those who keep the lights on, literally, is viewed by the OPA as a stakeholder.  Are they included in the stakeholders?


MR. HAY:  Yes.  


MS. KWIK:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  


MR. VEGH:  Were there any other parties who wanted to ask questions on this part of the presentation today?  Not seeing any, we do have -– Board Staff have a few clean-up questions on issues that have come up.  It shouldn't take too long.  


QUESTIONED BY MR. RICHMOND:


MR. RICHMOND:  Yes, I would like to go back to conservation and just touch on a few things that were raised.


I know it was brought up by the intervenors.  They mentioned programs specifically oriented -- LDC programs that were oriented toward line-loss reductions, and having seen some of these programs that were suggested by LDCs, I know they're quite prevalent.  


Has your agency put your mind to handling those in a different way, given that a lot of the line-loss reductions have more of a global effect because less generation is needed, there is power delivery, reductions in transmission?  Have you put your mind to maybe running those programs yourself or taking a more active role, or perhaps being the primary party, and then engaging with the LDCs?


MR. ALMASSI:  The clear answer is, no, we have not.  This has been ‑‑ we have not, frankly, looked at every area either.  There is definitely losses, line losses.  That's been acknowledged.  But the clear answer is, no, we have not looked at it.  It's not on the agenda as yet.


MR. RICHMOND:  Is that something you would look at in future?  Do you think that is a fertile area for exploration?


MR. ALMASSI:  I cannot say at this point.


MR. RICHMOND:  Sticking to conservation and given that the mandate of the distributors, in any event, look at local programs, do you see your mandate going forward as looking over these programs and seeing areas, perhaps, where benefits aren't being delivered, and then working in those areas, those available areas?


MR. ALMASSI:  With the local programs, the example being a community‑based program, is that ‑‑


MR. RICHMOND:  Community based.


MR. ALMASSI:  Yes.


MR. RICHMOND:  Correct.


MR. ALMASSI:  Well, in that sense, it is a part of the plan and it will be our intention to focus on the local programs at the community level.  As we have actually indicated, both in the conservation report and our plan, we consider LDCs front and centre and one of the best candidates as delivery agents for the local programs, particularly.  But it is not just LDCs.  There are a number of community organizations that we intend to work with to be effective.


As an overall central agency, we don't necessarily feel that we are the best agent, in all cases, for community‑based programs, but we could be supportive and we could be stimulating activities at the local level of the organization, and that is what we intend to do.


MR. RICHMOND:  So if you were to see an area that you felt further benefits could take place, then you would try to facilitate or assist, or something like that, the local presence there?


MR. ALMASSI:  The answer is yes.


MR. RICHMOND:  Okay.  I had just a couple of questions on the stakeholdering.  I know it was mentioned before.  Simply put, how do you know -- how do you measure when you have done enough stakeholdering?  What is your ‑‑ what would be a measure of that when you can say, We've got it right?


MR. HAY:  First of all, stakeholdering is done according to the size of the project and the directive of the Minister under the terms of reference that we work with.


Secondly, again, it's the scope of the project itself.  So, for example, the approach with respect to power generation may be different than the approach with respect to a particular regional issue.


Our general rule in stakeholdering is that anybody who says they have an interest is a stakeholder, in the broadest sense of the term.  So to that end, on supply mix, for example, we reached out right across the province to have a very broad public opinion survey and a very wide cross‑section of informed opinion, as well as reaching the more tradition groups that you would say are kind of the intervenor cluster, if you will.


There is probably no end to what one could do.  We even advertised right across the province and got 187 different submissions in that regard.  


So really it is a tiered structure that we try and develop to give us the broadest possible scope and to give a broad cross‑section of the public or publics with an interest to participate in the project, depending on whether it is province wide, region wide, or functionally specific.


There is no hard-and-fast rule.  We also spend a great deal on feedback in that regard, and we have had some suggestions for improvement.  We have also had some kudos for the wider approach that we have taken than some people expected.  


So for us, it is an iterative process, it is a learning process, and we're still trying to integrate it within the model that we're trying to develop so that we have two things, consistency over time and enhanced repeat utility of the information that we generate and develop.  


We also try and make it very clear in terms of what the results are, not only in terms of how we deal with it and internalize it in the studies, but in point of fact post it on the web.  So, for example, all of the information we receive that people have said is public, we have posted it on the web site, and we will be doing the same with respect to the supply mix report when the Minister gives us a green light to proceed.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  Do you think there are any opportunities, or would you look for opportunities where you're in an area where there might be another agency, like yourself, where you could collaborate somewhat?  Is that something you would look at?


MR. HAY:  Indeed we are already doing that.  In the case, for example, of Mississauga, GTA West, we participated in a presentation just the other day with the local LDC and the IESO in that regard.  So to that extent, where it makes sense in a particular project, absolutely.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  Just one final question.  It really relates to new start‑up organization, and the point has been made, I think, several times, that is what you are.


Given that there is a lot of costs in starting up and given that you don't have structured processes in place for everything, do you foresee reductions going forward in some lines of business, and what kind of reductions would you see?


MS. POON:  The start‑up costs that we've incurred are predominantly capital dollars.  Those capital dollars are going to be funded through amortization expenses that carry on for roughly a ten-year period.  Consequently, no, we don't see that going away.


MR. RICHMOND:  I'm not really thinking always of a capital program.  I think some of your programs where you're starting up an initiative where you haven't done it before, and even as you indicate in your evidence where you're building a structured system, so year 1 out of the gate, you've got a start‑up cost, but going forward then you have a structure that you can spit one out more easily, whatever it is you're delivering.  I was thinking more of that.


MS. POON:  In the evidence, I was looking through for areas such as that in fiscal 2006 budget.  I think there were identified web development and I think it's stakeholdering development.  I think they mount up to $100,000.  They're not significant.  But as an organization such as the OPA, which is unique, will be finding itself carrying out new directives that may come forward that, as a result, may infield for that.  So do I know directionally for sure?  No, I don't.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  That's all the questions I have on this part.


MR. VEGH:  I just have a couple, as well, coming out of the discussions earlier.  These both really relate to the same theme, which is getting an appreciation of your conservation and demand management activities.  Something that came up in response to a few questions was your reminder to distinguish between those activities that are being sort of carried out within the corporation - that is, these corporate activities - and then those conservation activities that will be implemented through procurement contracts.  That's the divide I would like to just ask a couple of questions about.


First, in relation to the amounts being spent, the CDM, the portion of your budget on CDM, is about just under $6 million for corporate‑wide activities.  You mentioned that there will, of course, be expenditures through procurement contracts.


You have received some directives from the government already on conservation, demand management, procurement contracts.  Do you have any ballpark figure on how much you will be spending under those contracts in '06?


MR. LYLE:  Well, we haven't entered into any contracts under those directives.  We haven't designed the programs as yet.  So I really don't think we're in a position to speculate on that at this time.  


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  Is it possible that you won't even complete any of those contracts in '06?  


MR. LYLE:  By “complete” you mean execute any of those contracts in '06?  


MR. VEGH:  Sure.  Okay, we can start there.  


MR. LYLE:  Certainly, with respect to -- you've seen our plan with respect to York region, there is 20 megawatts of demand response we're targeting to implement for the summer of 2006.  And I believe the Minister's directive with respect to the low-income and social housing and the appliances and efficient lighting talks about commencing implementation of those programs.  


MS. POON:  No later than the summer of 2006.  


MR. LYLE:  So we do anticipate that we will be executing some contracts in 2006 on the conservation side of things.  


MR. VEGH:  Are you in any position to provide an estimate of how much demand reduction you will actually see in 2006 as a result of those contracts?  


MR. ALMASSI:  The answer is, it will not be the complete potential targets that we have for those programs.  For example, lighting and appliances the target is 100 megawatt, and another 100 megawatt for the low-income program.  We are not certain what portion of that target will be achieved in 2006.  


But I would add also, as was read from the directive, we have a commitment to commence implementation of these programs in 2006.  That means that the design of the program is underway, and we are intensively working on them, and they should be done.  And the estimates of the costs would be a part of the program design, would come out of the program design.  And that would be done -- our intention is to do it as soon as possible, in order to be able to commence implementation as soon as possible in the spring or summer.  


To what extent we are going to achieve the targets in 2006 would depend on the design, it would depend on the success of the implementation.  


MR. VEGH:  Well, do you believe that, through the procurement contracts, you will be able to be in a position to demonstrate that they will lead to measurable reductions of demand in 2006?  


MR. ALMASSI:  Yes.  


MR. VEGH:  But you don't know how much.


MR. ALMASSI:  We don't know how much, what portion of the target would be achieved in the 2006, but we are confident that we can achieve the targets.  We’re just not sure what portion would be in 2006.  


MR. VEGH:  And the target is 200 megawatts?  


MR. ALMASSI:  200 megawatts, that's correct. 


MR. VEGH:  And is it part of the -- so that is on the procurement contract side.  


Now, for the corporate activity side, the $6 million, do you believe that this $6 million in expenditures will lead to any measurable reduction demand in 2006?  


MR. ALMASSI:  The cost of the design of the programs we just talked about, that would be a part of this submission.   Up to the procurement, that would be operating budget, which is a submission.  


And we also expect that perhaps there will be other initiatives that we would -- if we are able to initiate other programs, we would like to.  There may be potential directives in addition to the ones we have.  So, yes, the answer is yes.  If the question is whether the budget is -- could you repeat the question?


MR. VEGH:  The question is whether the expenditure of the $6 million, not the procurement contract side but the $6 million, will lead to any measurable reduction in demand in 2006.  


MR. ALMASSI:  Well, the answer is yes, because it is also connected to the directives and the efforts that would go into that.  


MR. VEGH:  But nothing in addition to what is contemplated in the directives?  


MR. ALMASSI:  There won't be an addition -- first of all, as I mentioned, there will be the potential addition of directives or additional initiatives. 


MR. VEGH:  Let's leave aside directives for a minute.  We're just looking at your corporate budget for 2006 of $6 million on conservation demand management activities.  And that's broken out in your evidence.  I'm just asking whether there will be any measurable reduction in demand as a result of the expenditure of those monies, leaving aside directives.  


MR. ALMASSI:  To the extent the projects that we are implementing through the conservation fund, a number of pilots and a number of projects that we are undertaking under that effort; also the awareness fund in the budget will lead to results which may not be, in terms of, as I mentioned earlier, not in terms of kilowatt and kilowatt hours but in terms of conservation culture and other objectives we have.  


We will try to quantify those, to the extent possible, through surveys, et cetera, but those are also results.  


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  Are you prepared to, at this stage, stake out ground and say what you think the demand reduction will be in 2006 as a result of this expenditure?  


MR. ALMASSI:  I cannot.  It's exactly the same answer as we gave regarding the specific directives.  


MR. VEGH:  Well, no.  The specific directives you said you have a target of 200 megawatts.  You expect to achieve some of that, but you don't know if you will be able to achieve all of that.  


MR. ALMASSI:  That's correct.  


MR. VEGH:  With respect to the $6 million, I will ask you an unfair question.  Do you have a target of meeting 10 megawatts of reduction?  


MR. ALMASSI:  No, we don't.  


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  Then I think that those are all of the questions for part 1.  So perhaps you can go ahead with your presentation on part 2. 


MR. LYLE:  Mr. Vegh, before we do that, we are losing Mr. Raffaelle at 3 o'clock, and I am assuming that no one has any further questions that relate specifically to generation development.  And if we're moving to part 2 and it's going to focus entirely on the retailer payments and the Ministry cost transfers, I'm wondering whether Mr. Gibbons, Mr. Almassi and Mr. Hay could also be excused. 


MR. VEGH:  I think people have asked their questions of them.  What may happen if an issue that comes up that requires their answer, we will just have to take an undertaking to provide an answer to that.  I think part 2 will really focus around the issues, as we discussed, of the retail account and the Ministry transfer.  


MR. LYLE:  Thank you.  Perhaps we can -- I don't know whether it is a good time to take a break while these gentlemen leave and we reposition ourselves at mikes that work.  


MR. VEGH:  Probably a good idea.  Shall we take ten minutes.  So we will start-up again at 3 o'clock.  


--- Recess taken at 2:50 p.m. 


--- On resuming at 3:00 p.m.


MR. VEGH:  We're going to get started.  We need to finish today.  We have the reporter until 6:00 and no longer than that.


What we are going to do in this part is the OPA is going to provide a presentation on retailer settlement payments and I guess what they call other non‑controllable items for '06, and then there will -- they will be open for questions.  Again, Board Staff will go first, followed by parties in the order of appearance.


So why don't you go ahead?


MR. LYLE:  I think we need an exhibit number for this presentation.


MS. WONG:  Exhibit number is Exhibit 1.3.  The title, "OPA's Revenue Requirements and Non‑Controllable Items, Fiscal 2006".


EXHIBIT NO. 1.3:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "OPA'S REVENUE 
REQUIREMENTS AND NON‑CONTROLLABLE ITEMS, FISCAL 2006"

PRESENTATION BY MR. LYLE – PART 2:

MR. LYLE:  So, as George was saying, we were asked to provide a presentation related to what's in our revenue requirements and how the ‑‑ we're proposing to use the retailer payments as an offset.  The first slide lists the operating side of the budget, which, as we've discussed, is approximately $30 million.  Then it also talks about other transactions.  Those are the Ministry of Energy procurement costs that have been transferred to the OPA. 


As I discussed earlier, those costs are transferred to us under section 25.18 of the Electricity Act, and we have no control over the size of those items and are obligated under the statute to pay those cost transfers.


The second part is the retailer contract settlements.  Then you combine those amounts together to go into our expenditure and revenue requirements submission.


The next chart outlines the dollars, and, as we've discussed, our operating budget of $30.6 million, government procurement costs of approximately 7 million, to give us a total revenue requirement of $37.5 million.


As of the end of September when we filed our application, the amounts that were recorded by us related to payments from retailers and to retailers netted out for the period January through September as $38 million on hand.


As you've seen in our application, we propose then that because of these retailer payments, we do not need a fee for 2006, and we propose that that net amount of 0.59 million be recorded in a deferral account.


There are two types of retailer settlement amounts, only one of which is directly on point to our discussion today.  There are the retailer payments, which is calculated as the difference between HOEP and contract price.  As I indicated, they were about $38 million at the end of September.


In October, we received an additional $17.93 million in retailer payments, and that information was provided to you in our evidence update.


Finally, there is the retailer discounts that are provided for, and that should say section 7.1 of O.Reg. 431.04.  This was a regulation that was made by the government in the fall, which provides that where retailers had contracts that are ‑‑ were captured by Bill 210, if those contracts provided for discounts or rebates or other such mechanisms to be paid to customers, that those payments, instead of going to the RPP customers themselves who had initially signed the retail contracts, would flow to OEFC for periods prior to 2005 and to the OPA for 2005 and on.


We have not received any payments to date with respect to that.  We don't anticipate receiving any payments with respect to this aspect until sometime in 2006.


In light of all this, our application proposes to establish three deferral accounts.  The retailer contract settlement deferral account is intended to track the retailer payments we either receive or pay out to retailers.  The retailer discount settlement deferral account will address the amounts that I indicated we expect to receive sometime in 2006, and the government procurement cost deferral account will record the additional sums that we anticipate being invoiced by the government related to their procurement activity costs.  And we intend to bring all of these deferral accounts forward in our 2006 ‑‑ sorry, our 2007 case to seek disposition at that time.


Now, I believe one of the issues which is highlighted by the questions that were given to us by Board Staff is whether the retailer balances, payment balances, should be flowing to or charged to, depending on where they stand, all customers or RPP customers.  


In order to understand this issue, we wanted to give a little bit of context, some of which, for many of us in the room, I'm sure is old news.


As you all know, Bill 210 was passed in December of 2002 and it fixed statutory prices for low-volume-designated consumers.  It also provided for retailers to be held whole with respect to those contracts they had previously entered into with low-volume and designated consumers, and that meant they would be trued up on the difference between contract prices and HOEP.  And OEFC was give the responsibility to hold the difference between the HOEP and statutory prices and the payments from and to the retailers.


The result of that was that for fiscal 2002 and 2003, OEFC was out of the money by an amount of $918 million, and this amount was expensed over time to the stranded debt.  Obviously, as we know, the stranded debt is recovered from all -- ultimately recovered from all consumers in Ontario.


This $918 million was an aggregate amount.  It did not separate out the retailer payments and the statutory price, HOEP price variance.  All of the funds were put into one -- recorded in one account.  And we understand, from discussions with OEFC, that they do not have information which would indicate what the sums of retailer payments to and from, in the past, have been.


Go to the next slide now, Joyce.


In April 2004, Bill 4 brought in the new two‑tier price structure.  With those new prices in place, OEFC was in the money for fiscal 2004 by an amount of about $671 million.  Once again, that is an aggregate sum.  It includes some monies related to retailer payments.  OPA, as required by O.Reg. 48.05, took $176 million of that sum and that was used to cover payments required to be made by the OPA in January to March with respect to our RPP variance account.


Now, the remaining $495 million, plus 10 million in interest, it was recently announced on October 20th that that was to be rebated specifically to RPP consumers.


The reason why we propose that this balance of $38 million at the end of September be used to reduce the level of fees that would be otherwise paid by all Ontario consumers is because, in looking back at past practice, it's safe to say that it has been inconsistent as to who has borne the risk related to retailer payments.


As we saw, the OEFC applied some of that money in the past to the stranded debt to be recovered from all consumers, and, recently, OEFC's surplus for 2004 has been targeted to RPP consumers alone.


One reason why it may have been done this way in the recent rebate provided by the government is because OEFC, as I've noted, never kept retailer payments and amounts related to differences between statutory and HOEP separate.  That is no longer the case. 


The legislation now draws a clear distinction between amounts recorded in the RPP variance account and retailer payments.  Amounts recorded in the RPP variance account are recorded under the authority of section 25.33 of the Act, and the provisions of the OEB Act that are referred to in the slide presentation indicate that that RPP variance account is to be cleared as the OEB sets new RPP prices.


The statute then also provides that the OPA is to separately record the retailer payments that are either made to retailers or received from retailers.


Finally, we've discussed this and tried to understand -- and perhaps parties can help us today, but we tried to understand the rationale for imposing the risk related to these retailer payments on RPP customers alone, and we're unclear as to what the logical rationale of that would be.


So with that, we're happy to take questions.


QUESTIONED BY MR. VEGH:

MR. VEGH:  If I could start for Board Staff, I want to ask you a question first on the Ministry of Energy procurement costs transferred to the OPA.


I think the statutory reference for that reimbursement is 25.18 of the Electricity Act.


MR. LYLE:  That's correct.


MR. VEGH:  If I understand your point, 25.18 basically allows the Minister to give the OPA a bill and the OPA has no choice; it just pays the bill to the Minister.  And this year the bill was in the amount of, whatever, $6.89 ‑‑ $6.9 million.


MR. LYLE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. VEGH:  But maybe you could help me here, but does the Act indicate whether or not, that this ‑‑ whether or not this money should be collected as part of a fee or as part of the OPA's charge relating to procurement contracts?


MR. LYLE:  The Act is not entirely clear.  However, for two reasons, we decided to include it with our revenue requirement case.


First of all, these are amounts ‑‑ the amounts that were incurred by the government were amounts that we would ordinarily consider to be operating costs.  They're not payments under the contracts.  They're payments to consultants and lawyers, and things like that, in order to carry out the procurement process.


As you've seen from reviewing our budget, we are categorizing those items as items that are part of the operating side of the equation.


As well as that, we wanted to be transparent with these costs.  We were concerned that it would not be transparent for us to merely slip these into a charge line that we sent off to the IESO to collect on our behalf.  So that is why we brought them forward as part of this proceeding.


MR. VEGH:  Well, you want to be transparent, but then when you are asked a question about it, you say, We can't answer anything because that's entirely up to the Minister.  The Minister sends us the bill.  We can't look behind the bill, and if you ask us any questions about it, we'll just have to clam up.


How much transparency is really added by making ‑‑


MR. LYLE:  Well, we gave you the transparency that is within our control.  As the statute says, the Minister sends us a bill and we pay the bill.


MR. VEGH:  But isn't it fair to say that there is really no more transparency?  You're saying this is a pass‑through and no one can look behind the costs anyway?


MR. LYLE:  We're saying we're being transparent to tell you that this is part of our costs.  You're correct that there is no prudence review available in this proceeding for the Minister's activities, because that's outside the scope of this proceeding.  But we did not think it was appropriate to hide the fact that we had received this bill from the Ministry and that this cost was going to be passed through to consumers.  We thought it was more upfront to include it in our case so that everyone could see that this is the bill that we received; this is the cost that we have incurred.


MR. VEGH:  Yes, but if you had it as a charge, then it would be transparent, as well; right?  There would be a certain amount of money and you would be collecting that money from consumers.  So isn't it equally transparent to treat this as a charge?


MR. LYLE:  I guess you're into the question of what is more transparent.  I guess we think of it --


MR. VEGH:  You think one is more transparent than the other?


MR. LYLE:  We think that an OEB public hearing process with notice is more transparent than a line that appears somewhere on an IESO invoice, yes.  


MS. LAINIS:  Can I just correct something?  


COURT REPORTER:  Sorry, I can't hear you.


MS. LAINIS:  I'm just saying it would have to be approved by the OEB.  It would be part of the wholesale --

MR. VEGH:  The court reporter can't hear you.


MS. LAINIS:  Any uplift that goes through the IMO settlement systems would have to be brought forth to the OEB.  It is part of the wholesale market service charges.


MR. LYLE:  Just so I can correct you on that, that is what the ‑‑ the distributors certainly would need to get approval to pass those costs onto customers.  The question is, if we were to attempt to characterize that as a charge, it's not clear that we would need any approval for that.


So I think we're talking at cross‑purposes, but --


MS. LAINIS:  But it would be just as transparent as the OEB is.


MR. VEGH:  Can you identify yourself?  


MS. LAINIS:  Helen Lainis from IESO.


MR. VEGH:  Okay, thank you for that.  But just in terms of this, you're saying that it's more transparent to treat this as a fee, because we're allowed to have a hearing over something which we can't question the contents of.


Can I just be clear?  If this were a charge and not a fee, then you would actually -- there would actually be some item on a bill recognizable as being attributable to the OPA; whereas, in 2006, you're proposing that there be no item on any bill attributable to the OPA.  It almost looks like it's been free for the last year or for the next year.


MR. LYLE:  First of all, as you know, and we have talked about already, there will be charges related to the OPA in order to recover payments that are made under procurement contracts.  So I wouldn't say that no item will be on any bill from the OPA.


It is not our intention with our proposal to hide anything.  We've come forward in an open public hearing process and said our operating budget is $30.6 million.  We're required to make these other payments to the government.  This ‑‑ we're being as open and transparent as we possibly can.


I somehow -- I rather suspect that if we were to go through this process and intervenors were to find out in the course of this process, Oh, by the way there is a 6.9 million charge that we got charged by the government, but we weren't going to bring that up in this proceeding, I suspect the reaction would be, you know, What are you hiding?  Why didn't you bring that forward?  So we decided to bring that forward and put it on the table.


MR. VEGH:  So what if you said there would be other amounts relating to procurement contracts for '06?


MR. LYLE:  We anticipate that there will be other costs from the government, because of course their RES 2 process went on after that.  The RES 3 process is still ongoing.


MR. VEGH:  Do you have any estimate of what that will be?


MS. POON:  We have an estimate for the year end, 
but -- that was provided to us via a letter.  I'm trying to figure it out. 


Sorry, I have to get a calculator.  Okay, it's in the tune of a little over $1 million.


MR. VEGH:  A million dollars?


MS. POON:  I believe so.  But that is an estimate.


MR. LYLE:  I think it is also not necessarily ‑‑ is it related to all of the costs that they did to incur?


MS. POON:  It is an estimate that they have available.  I mean, they're saying, you know, Don't close your books.  More is coming.  Whether or not this is an accurate estimate, I have no idea.


MR. VEGH:  Would you ask -- could you ask for just an updated estimate before the ‑‑ well, as part of this proceeding, just so would he we know what the number is?


MS. POON:  Sure.


MR. LYLE:  We will undertake to provide that, but, as we indicate in our evidence, any further bills we get from the government we're going to ‑‑ we plan to record in the deferral account.


MS. WONG:  That will be Undertaking No. 11.


UNDERTAKING NO. 11:  TO PROVIDE ESTIMATED PROCUREMENT 
CONTRACT AMOUNTS FOR 2006

MR. VEGH:  Okay.  Thank you.  I want to ask you questions about the other part of this, the retailer contracts portion.


Mr. Richmond will have some more detailed and intelligent questions for you, but I just wanted to get a very simple understanding of this, first, start with, why the issue is joined at all.  Let me see if you agree with me.  


I think that the reason that the issue is joined is basically because, if this overpayment or if this payment of $38 million was really properly owing to RPP customers only, then it would be inappropriate to use all of that $38 million as an offset to the OPA's fees for '06.  Would you agree with that?


MR. LYLE:  I would agree with you if you accept the premise that this money is properly owing only to RPP customers, that that would be correct.


MR. VEGH:  Yes.  That's the premise that I put in that question.


MR. LYLE:  That's where we have a disagreement with your premise.


MR. VEGH:  I actually haven't stated that premise.  I just asked you if that were the case.  We don't actually have a position on it.  But I'm saying that is why this is an issue, because the issue is whether or not this amount should be used for the benefit of all customers or for the benefit of a subset of customers, being the RPP customers.


MR. LYLE:  Agreed.


MR. VEGH:  That's the issue.


MS. POON:  Right.


MR. VEGH:  I know you talked about prior history, but in 2004, so the most recent go-round of this, the retailer contracts were out of the money; that's right?  So instead of providing a benefit of whatever it is, 50-some-million dollars this year, in the past year, the year before that, the retailer contracts were out of the money, so that there was a net amount being paid the other way.


MR. LYLE:  Do you have any information on that?


MS. POON:  Prior years when they were out of the money?


MR. VEGH:  Yes.


MS. POON:  Do we know the split between retailer and the amount associated with the frozen price?


MR. VEGH:  No.  I'm saying the year before, for the 2005 year ‑‑ 2004 year, they were in the negative, so more money was paid to retailers.


MR. LYLE:  We can't confirm that.  What we have been told by OEFC is that they didn't track those dollars separately.


So if you have that information, we would certainly be happy to hear about it.  


 MR. RICHMOND:  I guess we have a general sense of the information, because we know the price differential that you're operating on is the fixed price for those old retail contracts, which is around 6 cents and the spot price.  We know that the spot price only turned above that spring of this year, but, no, we didn't run an exact cash-stream forecast.  


But, generally, we know that prior to the spring of this year, logic would say that that cash-stream was negative.  Whoever was funding it would have had to make it up.


MR. LYLE:  I think that is probably true, but I can't guarantee that that is the case every single month, month in month out.


MR. VEGH:  Since you're talking about past practice, could you make enquiries of the OEFC or whoever held these accounts?


MR. LYLE:  We have made such enquiries and they told us they didn't split them out and they can't give us an estimate.


MR. VEGH:  They have no way of knowing how much payments were with respect to retail contracts?


MR. LYLE:  That's what they told us.


MR. VEGH:  Have you asked the -‑ have you asked the IESO for that figure, whether they would know that?


MR. LYLE:  I don't know whether the IESO would know that, but we can certainly undertake to ask them.


MR. VEGH:  Would you?


MR. LYLE:  Having said that, if they say -- if they say, yes, we can figure that number out for you, I suspect they may not be able to respond to that by December 14th, but we will certainly, by December 14th, be able to tell you that we've made enquiries of the IESO and give you any response they provide.


MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  They're a nimble organization.  We'll see what they can do.


MS. WONG:  That's Undertaking No. 12.


UNDERTAKING NO. 12:  TO INQUIRE WHETHER NET PAYMENTS 
WERE MADE BY OEFC OR IESO WITH RESPECT TO RETAIL 
CONTRACTS FROM APRIL 1, 2004 TO MARCH 31, 2005 

MR. VEGH:  Just to be clear, what I would like to know is were there net payments made by OEFC or the IESO with respect to retail contracts, and in the 2005 ‑‑ why don't we just say as of March 31, 2005.  I think that is the 
last ‑‑


MR. RAFFAELLE:  You want to run it from April 1, 2004 to March 31, 2005?


MR. VEGH:  Yes, yes.


MR. LYLE:  We will do our best.


MR. VEGH:  Can you also advise whether -- or do you know what the practice was with respect to who, in that period, effectively paid for this amount?  So if it was a negative ‑‑ if there was a net amount paid out to retailers, was it offset against the amount paid out to RPP customers?


MS. POON:  Yes, it was, because it was an aggregate fund.


MR. VEGH:  So it was offset?


MS. POON:  Yes.


MR. VEGH:  Only to RPP customers?


MS. POON:  To this fund, yes.


MR. VEGH:  Then the fund was paid out to RPP customers?


MS. POON:  Right.


MR. VEGH:  So the practice in the most recent years when the amount was -- the practice in the most recent years was that the amount, positive or negative, was attributed to only RPP customers?


MR. LYLE:  The practice with the rebate of the surplus that was announced in October 20th, 2004 ‑‑ 2005, was that, correct.  As we said, though, that has not been consistent all the way throughout as to who bears the risk related to retailer payments.


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  Are you aware of any policy change between the most recent payout or credit against retailer customers and what you're proposing in your application, that this be attributed to all customers?


MR. LYLE:  As I said in my presentation, the legislation has changed, such that the RPP variance account must clearly be separated out from retailer payments.  So at least there was a change in policy direction from the government to say, Treat these amounts separately.


And then I think it flows from that -- indicates that at least there is some indication, perhaps, of a policy change that these funds should not necessarily be aggregated against each other.


Then we get back into a discussion of, Well, what's the logical approach?


MR. VEGH:  Well, leaving aside what we might think is the logical approach, you're not saying, are you, that you discern somewhere in the legislation a definite intention that these amounts -- that there be a change in policy, that these amounts now be attributed to all customers, not like it was the year before to just RPP?


MR. LYLE:  I think the legislation leaves it open to the discretion of the OEB to decide what is the most appropriate course.  


MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, but I think Mr. Richmond has some questions for you.


QUESTIONED BY MR. RICHMOND:


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you, George.  I had posed a couple of questions on the history of what had taken place, and you have answered those.  Mr. Lyle has provided, I think, sufficient answers to those.  


Going to a further question I had, considering that this cash stream that we're talking about, the retail spot price differential could approach zero or could be negative going forward, what sort of scenarios have you looked at and what sort of risk analysis have you carried out to ascertain that?


MR. LYLE:  Well, we're pretty much handicapped in doing any such scenario analysis.  The only HOEP forecast that's available to us is the OEB forecast on which the RPP prices were set.  That, as you know, only runs up to the end of April of 2006.  I think, given the size of the RPP variance account, some may consider that forecast to have been overtaken by events.


With respect to market share of the retailer contracts, information around the volumes under those contracts, we really don't have any reliable information.


We have used a model which OFA had provided us, but our experience with that model is that it's ‑‑


MS. POON:  Flawed.


MR. LYLE:  Well, flawed is being generous.  It is often the 300 percent sort of range.  So we don't think it is a very useful forecasting tool.  Frankly, that is why we have taken the view that the best regulatory approach to this is to put the funds from October on into a deferral account and the OEB can address disposition next year.


MR. RICHMOND:  So you haven't done any projections?


MR. LYLE:  We don't have the capability.


MR. RICHMOND:  Now, I know -- unfortunately, I can't go right to the section, but I know I read in your evidence that -- probably it was in respect of doing the power system plan, that part of that model was a price forecasting model.


Why couldn't you use that forecast to ascertain what these kind of things might be, as a first cut?


MS. POON:  I mean, I think the issue is even if we know the price and the model that we've got in regards to the OEFC regarding the volume side of it, when you plug in the actual HOEP price - say, you know that with complete certainty - that model is still extremely flawed.


So here is half of the equation that nobody can guess, and if you actually put the actual in, you still can't get the number remotely close.


So it was our vision that it was not really beneficial to go down this route.


MR. LYLE:  May I just go back to the model you talk about?  Obviously that model has been developed as part of IPSP, so it is not available today.  It's also, as I understand it, not a model that is designed to look at next year's HOEP.  It is a tool to be used in doing long‑term planning and figuring out, if our supply mix is this, in five, ten years, what are prices going to look like.  That kind of information.


MR. RICHMOND:  Right.  I understand that, but I did recognize there was going to be a price forecast component.  So I thought that might be possible to use that as an estimate.


What about, did you look at another approach of handling this, say, levy a fee this year of a reasonable amount to recover those funds, keep this money in a variance account until the last retailer contract had been expired, which would be '07, late, and then, if things went well and it was a positive amount, then you could do a fee reduction going forward?  


Did you examine that at all, and what are the merits of that, if anything?


MR. LYLE:  Well, we have thought about that a little.  I guess our concern was that that was not an approach that likely would receive much favour from groups that represent ratepayers.


Our sense was that there would be an expectation that, you know, it wouldn't be appropriate for us to hold back all of this money and keep it away from customers until we figure out, by the end of 2007, exactly where the deferral account stands.


So we tried to strike a balance by using this money to set off our revenue requirement and putting the excess and the future payments, that we don't yet know about, into a deferral account.


MR. RICHMOND:  By saying hold back all of this money, we're assuming it is going to be always positive.


MR. LYLE:  Yes.  You're absolutely right.  I'm talking about right now.  Right now we had $38 million at the end of September, and another $18 million at the end of October.  I think our thinking was that if we had said, Put $56 million into a deferral account and we'll tell you in 2007 or 2008 how it worked out, there might be some who would not be keen on that idea.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  I believe that is all the questions I have.


QUESTIONED BY MR. HIGGIN:

MR. HIGGIN:  I'm not trying to go over the same ground, but basically, Mike, we believe ‑‑ this is a legal question.  I'm not a lawyer, so I'm going to put it on the table.  We don't believe there is authority to offset the fees by the deferral account.


We believe that the plain reading of the Act says that you should recover your costs from fees and charges, number 1; and, secondly, in any event, your proposal does require, in our view, the OEB approval subject to section 25.32(iii):

"The Board shall ensure that payments, set-offs and credits are made in accordance with the regulations."


So that is our position.  Therefore, I think, as Board Staff asked you, we think the appropriate approach is to levy a fee based on your revenue requirement, which I will go to in a minute, and then to seek disposition of the balances in the deferral account from the Board where there is proper evidence as to how that disposition should be done, based on the source of those funds.


We believe, because this is our client, that those ‑‑ that source is the RPP customers.  Okay?


So I am saying I put that as an issue.  We think it should be on the issues list right up there, front and centre.  It is not on the issues list right now.  So we are going to be asking the Board to put that on the issues list.  You don't have to respond to that issue, but that's where we are.


MR. LYLE:  We're happy to have that on the issues list.  We understand it is an issue.  Clearly, we have learned that today and we're happy to have it on the issues list.


MR. HIGGIN:  You can understand that it certainly is not the norm for a party to use offsets from deferral accounts against fees that are to be levied under legislation.


MR. LYLE:  It is an interesting concept that we were required to charge people a fee.  I have never quite heard that concept before, but, I mean, that is an issue for legal argument and we're not going to go there right now.


So, as I say, we are open to discussing this issue further at a settlement conference, and, as indicated in our letter of application, we would like a settlement conference, so we're happy to hear your ideas.


MR. HIGGIN:  That's that point.  I won't go over that one, but I do have a big problem with some of the presentation of your revenue requirement.


MR. LYLE:  Okay.


MR. HIGGIN:  Basically, if I could take you to your budget at Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1.  Do you have that?


What I am looking at here says "budget".  I'm trying to understand, first of all, can you tell me how budget relates to revenue requirement?


MR. LYLE:  Are you talking now at Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1 in the business plan?  Is that appendix A?


MR. HIGGIN:  Yes.


MR. LYLE:  Okay.


MR. HIGGIN:  It says "budget".


MR. LYLE:  Yes.


MR. HIGGIN:  I'm trying now to understand how that relates to revenue requirement.


MR. LYLE:  This is our operating budget, and our operating budget forms a component of our revenue requirement.


MR. HIGGIN:  So where is the presentation of your revenue requirement, other than the one that you provided on slide 3?  Where do I find that in the evidence?


MS. POON:  It's in the evidence provided at Exhibit D, tab 1, schedule 1, page 2.


MR. HIGGIN:  All right.  So the revenue requirement, then, is there.  I'm sorry I didn't see that.


The problem then I have is:  What is the presentation?  Who decided that this particular presentation was reflected, from an accounting point of view, presentation of your revenue requirement?  Who decided that?  Did you take accounting advice?  How did you perceive that this was an appropriate presentation?


MS. POON:  I don't think accountants actually do revenue requirement presentations.  It's really a function of a fee submission or an application before a legal tribunal, like in a utility sense.


So this is not meant to be our operating statement, as deemed to be a financial statement.


MR. HIGGIN:  Sorry, I took these as being projected pro forma income statements.


MS. POON:  They're not.


MR. HIGGIN:  Oh.  So do you have a pro forma for your income statements for either 2005 or 2006, because I would like to see the pro forma?


MS. POON:  As you're aware, we're an organization that has just come to be.  We will be filing our first financial statements or annual report by -- I believe it is sometime late February.


MR. LYLE:  It's actually the end of March the statute requires us to file our annual report, including our audited financial statements.


MS. POON:  That's when they will be available.  We're in the process of doing that.


MR. HIGGIN:  So you don't have a pro forma for your income statements for either 2005 or 2006?


MS. POON:  No, we do not.


MR. HIGGIN:  This is in fact what it says, is a budget?


MS. POON:  I don't know.  What's the question?  This is...

     MR. HIGGIN:  Well, any organization that presents an income statement, it has revenues and it has costs and it has a breakdown.  I'm trying to say:  What is pro forma statement for an income statement?  Is this it or is this not?


Let's go to the nub of it.  When you start bringing in non‑controllable expenses, for example, is that normally showed on a income statement?


MR. LYLE:  As I said, I don't think this is intended to be an income statement.  It is intended to be a presentation of where our costs ‑‑ we budget our costs to be and where there are other amounts that we either have to pay or which offset those amounts.


MR. HIGGIN:  Well, let's contrast, for example, the IESO.  Maybe you would inform yourselves and look at the IESO's income statement, as an example.  Therefore, what I was expecting to see was a similar presentation, financial presentation, to the IESO.  I don't see that here.


So my question is -- you've answered it.  You don't have a pro forma.  You may get one following your 2005 audit and statement.  That's the answer?  That's the answer.


MS. POON:  That's the answer.


MR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.  Right.  So can we then look at a couple of areas here?  One of these has already been discussed, and this is the compensation and benefits issue.


You've been asked about the Hay report and the terms of reference, and you're going to provide that.  The question I have is:  Can you tell us now, which organizations did you specify that you should be compared to by Hay in that report?


MR. LYLE:  I don't know that information offhand.  I am not sure whether we're at that stage yet, or not, but I can certainly undertake to find out.


MR. HIGGIN:  What I'm asking, Mike, is whether this was a management direction, or it's left up to Hay, to decide what is the appropriate sample.  That's the question.


MR. LYLE:  We will undertake to try to find that out.


MR. RICHMOND:  I believe it is in the report, Mr. Lyle.  I read it.  Unfortunately, I can't refer you to the exact page, but I remember reading a couple ‑‑


MS. POON:  It's a management direction to carry out the Hay report, yes.


MR. RICHMOND:  Right.  You referred to several organizations in there, and I assume they were the comparators, then.


MS. POON:  No.  Those were the comparators in which we used as a band in fiscal 2005 to establish our rates for people being hired on in fiscal 2005.


MR. RICHMOND:  Oh, okay.


MR. HIGGIN:  One other question ‑‑


MS. WONG:  Excuse me, was there an undertaking?


MR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I think.


MS. WONG:  Undertaking No. 13.


UNDERTAKING NO. 13:  TO PROVIDE INSTRUCTIONS PROVIDED 
TO HAY FOR COMPARATOR SAMPLE FOR TOTAL COMPENSATION BY 
DIFFERENT GROUPS

MS. WONG:  Can you please repeat the question for the undertaking?


MR. HIGGIN:  We're trying to see what the direction to Hay was with respect to the sample -- comparator sample for total compensation by different groups.  What was the direction?  Did they leave it to Hay to find the sample or did they provide specific direction, such as including the OEB, for example?


MS. POON:  Right.  In the evidence - I will just point to Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 5 on page 12 - there are specific comparator groups which we had sought to be included.


So I don't know if that was the ultimate direction.  I will undertake to find out specifically.  But if you note there, the comparator groups will include financial sectors, broader public sector, the Ontario energy sector and broader Canadian energy sector.


MR. HIGGIN:  So the question is:  Is that your direction to Hay, or is that Hay's decision and its proposal to you?


MS. POON:  Okay.


MR. LYLE:  I guess the other point to clarify is it may also have been a direction from our board of directors.


MR. HIGGIN:  Whichever.  That would be helpful to know.  If there was a management or other direction, where did it come from?


The other cost that I would like to just discuss a bit is the question of a compilation and the lease.  What were the benefits that were accruing from going to a ten-year lease, which by any terms is quite long, versus a shorter-term lease?  What I would like to undertake you to look at, what were the net benefits from going to ten years versus a shorter term?


MR. LYLE:  We will attempt to respond to that.


MS. WONG:  Undertaking No. 14.


UNDERTAKING NO. 14:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION REGARDING 
BENEFITS ACCRUING FROM THE TEN-YEAR LEASE VERSUS 
SHORTER-TERM LEASE

MR. HIGGIN:  Now, am I correct that we're not allowed to ask questions about directors' and officers' compensation, or anything, because of the statute?


MR. LYLE:  I would have to look that up again.  Yes, 25.21(iii) addresses that.  I think there is a similar provision in the IESO's legislative provisions:

"In reviewing the OPA's proposed requirements and proposed fees, the Board shall not take into consideration the remuneration and benefits of the chair and other members of the board of directors of the OPA."


MR. HIGGIN:  Does that include ‑‑ are any of your officers on the board, for example, the CEO?


MR. LYLE:  The CEO is a member of the board of directors by the terms of the statute.


MR. HIGGIN:  Is he the only one, then, that would be excluded by virtue of that?


MR. LYLE:  He is the only employee who is on the board of directors.


MR. HIGGIN:  Right, okay.  So could you give us a breakdown of your compensation for executives and management on an average, total compensation - that would be salaries and benefits - the average compensation for -- I'm trying to explore two classes:  The executive group, and we'll call it management group of OPA.  What is the average compensation of each of those parties, those groups?


MS. POON:  We can undertake to do that.


MS. WONG:  Undertaking No. 15.


UNDERTAKING NO. 15:  TO PROVIDE AVERAGE COMPENSATION 
AMOUNT FOR OPA MANAGEMENT GROUP

MR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Can you -- then the last one I have on this financial statement is:  Can you provide a schedule or something that shows us what is involved in the amortization amount of $344,000, what costs are ‑‑ which costs are feeding into that line for amortization and what is being amortized, some more details, if you have it?


MS. POON:  Yes, I have that.  I have it.  I think it will probably read better as an undertaking, so I will just take it -- otherwise I could read all the items.


MR. HIGGIN:  The background for the amortization of $344,000.


MS. POON:  Yes.


MS. WONG:  Undertaking No. 16.


UNDERTAKING NO. 16:  TO PROVIDE BACKGROUND FOR 

AMORTIZATION OF $344,000

MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  The final one I have is the information technology.  Do you outsource your IT requirements, and, if so, were they outsourced competitively?


Who is your IT service provider or providers?


MR. LYLE:  Do you know that?


MS. POON:  No, I don't know the answer to that.


MR. LYLE:  We have some in-house IT resources.  We have two staff.  I'm not clear to what extent we outsource.


MR. HIGGIN:  So there's two questions there, just the amount outsourced, dollar-wise, and, secondly, was it competitively tendered?


MS. POON:  Specifically with that IT outsourcing, are you looking for contracted IT support or are you looking for ‑‑


MR. HIGGIN:  It would be all outsourced contracted services.


MS. POON:  Associated with IT?


MR. HIGGIN:  It could be lease of equipment.  It could be -- everything.


MS. POON:  Oh, I see, okay.


MR. HIGGIN:  We would like to know just basically how much that is, and, secondly, was it competitively tendered?


MS. WONG:  Undertaking No. 17.


UNDERTAKING NO. 17:  TO PROVIDE DOLLAR AMOUNT OF 
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY OUTSOURCED AND WHETHER IT WAS 
COMPETITIVELY TENDERED

MR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. VEGH:  Mr. Dingwall, do you have anything for the CME?


QUESTIONED BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  Yes, I do.  First of all, just a housekeeping question.  There's been reference to the supply-mix plan that is supposed to be made public tomorrow.  Do you have an intention of filing it in this proceeding?


MR. LYLE:  I think I talked to Mr. Matthews about that earlier.  I'm not sure how relevant it is to this proceeding.  It's an activity that was undertaken in 2005 and it's essentially being completed in 2005.


Obviously, if there is a supply-mix directive from the government, we will be using that supply-mix directive as we develop our integrated power system plan.


Having said that, I mean, there is it nothing secret about this document.  I'm just not sure it is particularly relevant to this proceeding.  So if you're asking me to file it because you would like to cross-examine about the supply-mix advice, I don't think it is relevant to this proceeding.


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, we've seen direction or directives come from the Minister that either require no involvement of the Board, or directives that require some involvement of the Board with respect to the cost implications.


Having not seen it, I don't know if there are any cost implications for the test year, as it is not a public document at this point in time.


MR. LYLE:  There are no cost implications to the work that we undertook to do the supply-mix advice report in 2005.  As I indicated, obviously one of our major initiatives in 2006 is the integrated power system plan, and there may or may not be a directive coming from the Minister in that regard.


MR. DINGWALL:  Does the OPA have any intention on taking matters into its own hands and attempting any efforts in the absence of a Minister's directive with respect to supply mix?


MR. LYLE:  That would really be speculation.  If, for some reason, we were informed that the Minister was not going to be issuing a supply-mix directive, obviously we would have to go ahead and develop the integrated power system plan without such direction.


MR. DINGWALL:  So I take it at this point your answer is:  No, for the purpose of this application, there is nothing that you're aware of, at this time, that could affect this application?


MR. LYLE:  With respect to the supply-mix advice report, no, there is not.


MR. DINGWALL:  If anything did come up of relevance, it would come up in the context of your IPSP application later on?


MR. LYLE:  Certainly the IPSP, as I indicated, would have to follow any directives that were issued by the Minister, and one of the tests that the OEB is to look at is whether, in fact, the IPSP does follow those directives.  So it would come up potentially in that context.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  I'm not going to ask for it, then.


Moving back to the topic of retailer settlement revenues, was there a contractual or other arrangement of more detail that sets out how these are treated and the transfer of the obligation between OEFC and OPA?


MR. LYLE:  I think it just happened by operation of statute and the regulations that underpin it.


The 25.34 of the Electricity Act talks to obligation on the OPA to make or receive payments required by the regulations with respect to contracts that were in effect on November 11th, 2002 between retailers and consumers.


So the statute imposes that obligation on us.


MR. DINGWALL:  You intend to meet that obligation certainly in the context of your revenue requirement through the use of deferral accounts.  Is there a schedule that you are proposing that those deferral accounts be cleared upon?


MR. LYLE:  We intend to address disposition of the amounts in those deferral accounts when we come back to the Board for our 2007 case.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, it's the amounts in these accounts that are going to fund 2006 activities?


MR. LYLE:  No.  As of the end of September, for the period 2005, we had already received $38 million in retailer payments.  It's that amount which we are using to offset our revenue requirement.


The amounts that will be recorded in the deferral accounts include the approximately $18 million I referred to for October and any amounts that are paid by us or paid by retailers for the remaining balance of that period, until such time as we come back to the OEB in the fall of 2006 for our 2007.


MR. DINGWALL:  Was the $38 million that was initially received, received after any and all audit procedures had been completed?


MR. LYLE:  You want to talk to that?


MS. POON:  Well, currently the ‑‑ there are audit proceedings going on of the retailers and the RPP with the LDCs, in regards to how they're filling out the forms and the accuracy of the information provided on those forms to them.


And then that is a function that is being carried out by the OEFC.  It is their audit function currently, and we do not take ownership of that until April 2006.


In the event there is an impact of that audit, they are currently auditing from the time period year end ‑‑ their time frame.  So, in effect, the audit trail that the ‑‑ that they have hired, that being the Ministry of -- I think it ‑‑ I'll have to check, but there is an internal auditor that has been hired, and we will then hire them in a subsequent year.


The time frame in which they are auditing this process for the time frame in which the OEFC is responsible for that.  So they're carrying out the audits for the amounts that are ending December 2004, and then when we take up the auditors -- like, the auditors are always behind the game.  When we pick it up in April 2006, we will start auditing from the time in which we have taken ownership of these accounts and forward.


MR. DINGWALL:  So the date that you take ownership is October 1 or September 1?


MS. POON:  No.  We're going to be taking ‑‑ sorry.  Say that again?


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Ms. Poon, let me ask it in a series of questions and we will see where we get.


What is the first date that OPA takes ownership of the accounts?


MS. POON:  We take ownership of these accounts, as noted in the evidence, effective January 2005.  However, the ‑‑ and we will audit for that time frame, but we will not have available to us those auditors until April 2006 to start that auditing process.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  What you don't have at this point, which you've spoken to a moment ago, is the audit results for the 2004 year, which OEFC is currently addressing?


MS. POON:  That's correct.  It is the OEFC's opinion that the audit results associated with that and the outcomes to that are associated with their books.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So anything that happens with respect to 2004 is not going to create a benefit or a liability for OPA?


MS. POON:  No.


MR. DINGWALL:  OEFC will handle that?


MS. POON:  Right. 


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, in looking at this account, I believe you mentioned earlier that there is not a lot of information to predict this, that the quality of information isn't great.


MS. POON:  That is correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Have there been significant variances in the audit -- or the proposed numbers versus the audited numbers in the past?


MS. POON:  There have been results as a result of those auditing processes.  If you actually were to go on and -- to the OEFC's annual reports, they will stipulate amounts.


I think I have got one here where it says it was to the tune of $20 million, and that is in their 2005 annual reports that the OEFC recovered $20 million during a year related to the fund expenditures prior to April 2004 as a result of OEFC's ongoing audit of the claims from the funds made by local distribution companies.  That's found in their 2005 annual report on page 26.


With regards to others, I don't know the entire trail of prior audits.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Now, in looking through the information that you provided in Exhibit 1.3, it looks like over the history of this account there's been a significant variation between when it's been in the money and when it has been out of the money.  Currently, it is in the money, from OPA's perspective, to the tune of $38 million, plus an estimated $18 million.


MS. POON:  That's correct.  But, you know, we've had this account for, as we say, January 1, 2005.  So prior to that I don't know if it's in or out or where it is at, because, as we've stated, it is an aggregate.


MR. DINGWALL:  So to understand that, you mentioned that forecasting is always a difficult thing.  I'm just wondering what elements of the forecast you have and what elements of the forecast you don't.  Given these that contracts go back to November of 2002 - the retailer contracts I'm referring to - do you have an indication of what their prices are for the remaining terms of those contracts?


MS. POON:  No, I do not.


MR. DINGWALL:  Is that something that OEFC had in the past?


MS. POON:  No, they did not.  That's why they are carrying out an audited process.  I mean, it is the only way.  It's really through the LDCs, the communication between retailers and LDCs.


MR. LYLE:  I think we have some anecdotal information just by having been involved in the industry, but we don't have any specific data on that.


MS. POON:  No, no specifics.


MR. DINGWALL:  Do you know how -- whether any of these contracts -- or whether there was a definition as to whether contracts were considered ongoing if they were renewed, or ongoing if they were if they were fixed term extending out to 2007?


MR. LYLE:  Do you mean, can these retailer payments extend beyond that five‑year time period, beyond 2007?


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, any of the contracts leading up to 2007, did they include renewals between 2002 and 2007?


MR. LYLE:  I don't believe so.  My understanding is that does -- if you signed a contract on November 11th, 2002, that that was captured within the Bill 210 framework, and assuming that there is five-year contracts for the longest term, that contract would expire November 11th, 2007; and, with that, even if it was renewed, any obligation with respect to keeping the retailer whole would also expire at that time.


So my understanding is that the latest date you can go out to is November 11th, 2007.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  In your budget for 2006, have you included an amount for the audit of the retail settlement account?


MS. POON:  Yes.  Yes, we have.


MR. DINGWALL:  Is that budget informed by what OEFC's budget was in the past?


MS. POON:  It's based on it, yes, it is, and it's also direct negotiation with them.


MR. DINGWALL:  It's a negotiated amount between ‑‑


MS. POON:  Let me be clearer.  It is actually ‑‑ it's a government agency that is doing this.  It's at cost.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.


MR. VEGH:  Can you speak up?  We can't hear.


MS. POON:  Sorry.


MR. RICHMOND:  I'm sure the people at the back can't hear you.


MR. DINGWALL:  If they're still awake.  I take it, then, that there is just no certainty that this revenue stream will be available to the OPA during the test year?


MS. POON:  This revenue stream, there is certainty, given the fact that we are talking about funds that are collected to date, that we are utilizing ‑‑


MR. DINGWALL:  The audit ‑‑ correct me if I'm wrong.  The audit is an annual audit?


MS. POON:  I believe so.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  You're identifying a point in time at which, at the end of September, the amount in that account was $38 million.  That's what you're basing your budget sufficiency on?


MR. LYLE:  That's correct.


MS. POON:  Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  So it is conceivable that over the balance of the year, the sufficiency might decrease?


MR. LYLE:  It's conceivable it might change in either direction, yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  How would you then address that in the test year, if there was a decrease in sufficiency to the point there was an insufficiency?


MS. POON:  You wouldn't know the audit results until sometime in 2007 ‑‑ '6, I mean.  No, in 2007, because we start the audit process in April 2006.  It will take a year to know the results of that audit for a time frame thereafter.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So I understand it, the amounts that you're going to be using for 2006 are based on unaudited results and may or may not be available, but you won't know that until 2007?


MS. POON:  Right.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, I took a quick look at the status of the OPA results in the context of the RPP, and from what I can see at this point in time, if a customer wanted to switch away from the regulated-price plan, they would have to pay a fee to you; is that correct?


MR. LYLE:  That's my understanding.  I'm not sure that ‑‑ I can't remember whether it is called a fee or not, but it is addressed under the OEB's codes.


MS. POON:  Under their RPP manual that the OEB has established. 


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, if the sufficiency that comes from, as you propose, the rate, the retailer payments were used to mitigate that, would that lower the fee that it would cost customers to seek competitive offerings at, the cost to switch away from the RPP?


MR. LYLE:  I don't think -- I'm not sure that I'm following the question, but maybe you want to go through it more slowly, step by step.


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, let me understand this.  It sounds like there is quite a gap in time from the time that the retailer payments are audited, and then cleared, compared with the time that commodity prices are dealt with through the RPP; is that correct?


MS. POON:  Yes.  I guess.  I don't know what time frames you're talking about, really.  Can you lay them out?


MR. LYLE:  A gap in the sense that when the OEB goes to set new RPP prices for May 1, 2006, going forward, that we will not have completed our audit of the retailer payments account; is that what you're asking?


MR. DINGWALL:  Yes.


MR. LYLE:  I think that is accurate.  I imagine the ‑‑ I don't know where we will be on auditing the RPP variance account, either.


MS. POON:  No, because of the fact that we don't commence ‑‑ as I stated, we don't take over having access to these auditors  until April of 2006.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Thank you very much for your time.


MR. LYLE:  No problem.


MR. VEGH:  Do you have anything, Dave?


MR. MATTHEWS:  No, I'm fine.  Thanks, George.  


MR. VEGH:  Tom, you're next.  


QUESTIONED BY MR. ADAMS:

MR. ADAMS:  I think I've only got one question. 


The obligations of the parties here, the OPA and the retailers, with regard to these financial transactions, where do we review that?  Is any of that on the record anywhere?


MR. LYLE:  I'm sorry, can you explain what you mean, the obligations with respect to the retailer payments?


MR. ADAMS:  Well, the flow of funds that results in this account --


MR. LYLE:  That operates by way of statute and regulations.


MR. ADAMS:  Statute and regulations.  So we looked at those, and that's ‑‑


MR. LYLE:  That's how the mechanism works, yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  And there is nothing else?  There's no other procedures?


MR. LYLE:  No.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. KWIK:  I have no questions.


MR. VEGH:  Did anyone else have any questions on this?


QUESTIONED BY MR. RICHMOND:

MR. RICHMOND:  I just had two sort of wrap-up questions.


MR. LYLE:  Okay.


MR. RICHMOND:  One was, when you filed your original evidence, you used - I'm rounding off - $38.1 million revenues end of September, and I believe you were picking that time to attain revenue certainty, I guess.


So going forward, then, you were going to fund '06, the proposal was, with the monies that were already there - I believe you made that point - to the end of September.


MS. POON:  Right.


MR. LYLE:  That's correct.


MR. RICHMOND:  Then in a subsequent piece of information that you filed, which was useful, you had another $18 million, and that was the end of October.


MR. LYLE:  That's correct.


MR. RICHMOND:  But you're really not filing on that as money to carry you through next year.  That went in the variance account.  So that's --


MR. LYLE:  We're proposing to put that in the deferral account.


MR. RICHMOND:  The deferral account, yes.  I just want to be clear on that.


MS. POON:  That's true.


MR. RICHMOND:  You're using the 38.1, not the 55?


MR. LYLE:  That's correct.


MR. RICHMOND:  Thank you for that.  The second one was the question -- I think Mr. Dingwall had a question about audit results for the OEFC prior to your time of assumption of the account, which was January 1, '05.


Was there an undertaking to provide those audit results, or, if not, can we ask for that?


MS. POON:  The audit results that they're currently carrying out?


MR. RICHMOND:  That's correct.  Was that the question that you had raised?


MR. DINGWALL:  I have asked what the history was with respect to audits and true‑ups, and I believe the answer was that, with respect to the 2004 year, there was a $20 million variance, and I believe you referred to an OEFC document.  Perhaps if you could --


MS. POON:  The annual report.  It's their annual report.  You can access it on their web site.


MR. RICHMOND:  Okay.  You didn't have anything 
beyond --


MS. POON:  No.


MR. RICHMOND:  -- what you were referring to?


MS. POON:  Yes.


MR. RICHMOND:  Okay, thank you.


MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  Unless you have any further clarifications you wanted to add, I would like to thank people for attending today and for asking these questions and getting this information on the record.


I just thought before I would break, I would remind people of the next steps.  


The next step is that there will be responses to these interrogatories.  I think December 14th is the date -- not interrogatories, these undertakings.


MR. LYLE:  Yes.


MR. VEGH:  The transcript will be made available, as well.  Then the next step will be that Staff will circulate a draft issues list.  VECC was very clear today on an issue that it wanted addressed on the draft list, and we will include that.


We will do our best of surmising, from what the issues that the parties have raised in their questions, what we think are the key issues in this application, but we will circulate a draft list.  If anybody, before we break up today, wants to articulate that issue to us in a way where they want to ensure it is stated, you can probably do that before we break.


Then the other thing I mentioned before we started today was the issue of -- was the issue of evidence.  I've asked people to identify whether or not they plan to file pre-filed evidence.  Can I take a scan of the room?  Is there anyone here who intends to file any evidence in this case, or at least wants to keep that option open?


MS. LANDYMORE:  I think we would like to keep that option open, APPrO and TransAlta.


MR. VEGH:  When will you know if they are going to file any evidence?


MS. LANDYMORE:  I'm not sure.


MR. VEGH:  Okay, we will give you a call.  Thank you very much, then.


MR. MATTHEWS:  George, could I ask one question before we close?  If there are subsequent questions that we think about, can we put them to the company?


MR. VEGH:  Well, as I said at the outset, what we tried to do was to use this in lieu of a written interrogatory process.  So we don't really have a procedural order or a plan in place to follow this up with written interrogatories.


The formal way to go about establishing your written interrogatory process, if parties feel there is a need for more discovery, would be to bring a motion before the Board and ask for a written interrogatory process.  


Having said that informally, if there are some questions that occur to you after this that you require further clarification on, you might just want to contact the OPA and see if there is an issue, at all.  There may be some supplemental questions coming out of today that would make a formal interrogatory process probably unnecessary.  I see Mr. Cass nodding his head.  I assume that is agreeable to you?


MR. CASS:  I think that makes more sense than people thinking, because they have a follow-up question, they have to go back to the Board and make a request.  I think it would make sense to take it to the OPA first and see if it can be done in that fashion.


MR. MATTHEWS:  That's satisfactory.  Thank you.


MR. CASS:  I'm just wondering about the issues list, George.  You had mentioned that you were going to try to surmise from parties' questions what the issues might be.  I'm just wondering whether that is the best way of doing it, because people may have had questions that they felt were satisfied today.  Is it useful to take a few minutes just to talk specifically about what parties' expectations are for the issues list?


MR. VEGH:  Sure.  We could do that.  We could do that sort of off the record, though, if we want to talk about ‑‑ if people want to ensure that their issues are going to be addressed, because the next step is we issue a draft issues list, anyway.  If we circulate it and people say it's not an issue, then we won't really look to create an issue out of it.


So this would be the most efficient next step.  If people want to be sure that their issues get on the draft list, then the simplest way to do that is to let us know and we will get it on the draft list.


MR. LYLE:  Sorry, George, can I clarify?  There is a draft issue list that Staff will circulate.  We're open to provide comments on that, and then you will provide a semi-final staff issues list, and then there is the issues day on the 20th?


MR. VEGH:  I'm not sure if we will have a semi-final staff issue list.  We could circulate a draft list and see what the reaction is to that.  Whether it's necessary to get together after that for a brief issues day or to circulate another list, we could deal with that at that time.


So we don't really -- you know, don't really have these stages set out in that way.


So with that, perhaps we could let the reporter go and thank everyone again for their time and contribution, and maybe we could caucus to make sure we have the issues.  


MS. LANDYMORE:  Was there any timing about when we were going -- when the decision was going to be made about proceeding by oral or written hearing?


MR. VEGH:  I can't help you on that right now, so I don't know.


Okay, thank you.  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:25 p.m.
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